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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The Hon Jim McGinty BA BJuris (Hons) LLB JP MLA
Minister for Health

In accordance with Section 66 of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985, we
submit for your information and presentation to Parliament the Annual Report of the
Western Australian Alcohol and Drug Authority for the year ending 30 June 2006.
The report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial
Administration and Audit Act 1985.

Mike Daube
CHAIRPERSON

BOARD MEMBER
28 August 2006
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT
Alcohol and drugs are rightly considered to be major health and social issues for
Western Australia. While alcohol is consumed and enjoyed by many and all sorts of
drugs have been part of human society for millenia, the misuse of alcohol and drugs
by a minority of people causes misery for them, their families and often their
communities.
The state’s emergency departments see people who are intoxicated, with problems
resulting from that drunkenness. Mental health services are seeing people whose
first psychosis is a result of amphetamine use. The majority of incidents that require
police attendance involve alcohol misuse. Most prisoners in Western Australia have
drug or alcohol problems and many were intoxicated at the time of their offence.
Over half of the child protection cases investigated by the Department for
Community Development involve parents who are abusing alcohol and/or drugs.
The Drug and Alcohol Office’s (DAO’s) key challenges are to provide accessible and
effective treatment services – well linked to health, justice and welfare systems – to
support prevention programs that have a real impact, and to take measures to
reduce harm wherever appropriate.
To achieve these objectives, DAO works in partnership with key human service
agencies across government, and particularly with non-government organisations
that are members of the WA Network of Alcohol and other Drug Agencies
(WANADA), as well as a broad range of community organisations.
Guiding these partnerships and the activities undertaken by DAO and these
organisations is the WA Drug and Alcohol Strategy 2005-2009 and associated
complementary strategies for Aboriginal people, alcohol and volatile substances
published during the year. These set out comprehensive and coherent strategic
directions for the state. This year has also seen a review of whole-of-government
organisation and reporting to support a stronger focus on strategy implementation.
This report sets out a number of highlights in each of the key areas of activity and
looks ahead to the priorities for 2006/2007.
The operation and development of treatment services has benefited greatly from the
quality improvement programs that have seen Next Step Drug and Alcohol Services
accredited and non-government agencies participating in a formal program coordinated by WANADA. Treatment services have been able to respond to changing
drug use patterns in the community. This is evidenced by their capacity to engage
large numbers of amphetamine and cannabis users, and by the large proportion of
their clients attending for problems with alcohol.
The effort to prevent the misuse of alcohol and illicit drugs has seen the strong
development of partnership networks throughout the state that comprise Community
Drug Service Teams, area health services, Western Australia Police and Local Drug
Action Groups, as well as other local organisations. These networks support a range
of grassroots activity under the banners of the illicit drug campaign, Drug Aware,

6

and alcohol education program, Enough is Enough. The new Drug Aware
amphetamine campaign commenced during the year and aims to keep the
downward pressure on amphetamine use that has been reflected in the latest
surveys.
Looking ahead to 2006/2007, DAO will expand access to services by integrating
Next Step and non-government treatment centres in the metropolitan corridors. This
will enable the development of “one-stop shops” that can provide a comprehensive
range of medical and counselling services, as well as provide support to local
communities, including into new areas such as Rockingham. Treatment beds in both
the Next Step detoxification service and non-government residential programs are
being established for Aboriginal people with Aboriginal rehabilitation staff and more
culturally appropriate programs. The development of these services meets long
identified gaps in service availability in Perth.
Expanding effective support for community pharmacotherapy providers is a priority,
as is strengthening and formalising the links between mental health and alcohol and
drug services.
DAO is committed to improving treatment and prevention practice and contributing
to the development of new knowledge that informs practice. Training and education
services provided by the Practice Development Branch will be working closely with
Next Step and WANADA customers to ensure that activities are closely targeted to
the needs of the sector. DAO’s monitoring, evaluation and research capacity has
been consolidated and will be more closely aligned to the particular needs of the
sector in Western Australia and the strategic opportunities to contribute to
knowledge development nationally.
This has been a busy year and 2006/2007 promises to be just as busy with a focus
on extending treatment services, building stronger prevention programs and
providing well-targeted support to these activities through training, education and
research. Attainment of these aims is dependent on good people and DAO’s
commitment to professional development. I would like to thank all the staff of DAO
and the WANADA member agencies contracted by DAO for their hard work and for
continuing to rise to the challenges posed by alcohol and drug misuse in Western
Australia.

____________________________
Mr Terry Murphy
A/Executive Director
Drug and Alcohol Office
(WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ADDRESS AND LOCATION
The Drug and Alcohol Office (DAO) is the business name of the Western Australian
Alcohol and Drug Authority (WAADA), which is an independent statutory authority
established in November 1974. Its functions are set out in the Alcohol and Drug
Authority Act 1974. WAADA is responsible to the Minister for Health and, through
the Minister, to the West Australian Government.
Next Step Drug and Alcohol Services (Next Step) is the trading name DAO has
applied to its clinical and treatment services. Next Step operates as a directorate of
DAO.
Corporate Office:
7 Field Street, Mount Lawley WA 6050
Postal:
PO Box 126, Mount Lawley 6943
Telephone:
(08) 9370 0333
Fax:
(08) 9272 6605
Email:
dao@health.wa.gov.au
ENABLING LEGISLATION
The administration of DAO is established as set out in the Alcohol and Drug
Authority Act 1974.
LEGISLATION
DAO does not administer legislation.
ACTS PASSED DURING 2005/06
None.
ACTS IN PARLIAMENT AT 30 JUNE 2006
No Acts that concerned DAO were passed in Parliament as at 30 June 2005.
MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES
The DAO board received no ministerial directives during 2005/06.
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MISSION STATEMENT AND BROAD OBJECTIVES
MISSION
The Drug and Alcohol Office (DAO) is the peak agency of the West Australian
Government to coordinate, implement and monitor the Western Australian Drug and
Alcohol Strategy. It embraces the vision, aims, values and principles of this
strategy.
VISION
For West Australians to lead healthy lifestyles and to have access to the best
services and programs to prevent and reduce alcohol and other drug (AOD) related
harm.
BROAD OBJECTIVES
The broad objectives of DAO are to:






coordinate, implement and monitor the Community Drug Summit initiatives in
accordance with the government’s response ‘Putting People First’;
coordinate, implement and monitor the Western Australian Drug and Alcohol
Strategy 2005–2009;
develop, resource and deliver best practice AOD services and programs
throughout Western Australia;
coordinate whole-of-government planning and activity targeting people affected
by AOD use; and
provide expert advice to government regarding AOD use and related harm.

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY
Board of the Western Australian Drug and Alcohol Authority
DAO has a board of four members nominated by the Minister for Health and
appointed by the Governor in Executive Council. All board members’ terms are for
three years expiring on 31 December 2007. The board as at 30 June 2006 consisted
of the chairman Professor Mike Daube, Professor of Health Policy at Curtin
University, Dr Margaret Stevens, Chief Medical Adviser Population Health at the
Department of Health, Professor Steve Allsop, Director of the National Drug
Research Institute, and Ms Violet Bacon, Lecturer in Social Work and Social Policy
at the University of Western Australia.
The board has delegated to the DAO executive director with certain exceptions,
powers vested in it by the Alcohol and Drug Authority Act 1974. This board
convened on four occasions during 2005/06 and members received $19,054.54 in
remuneration.
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Senior Officers
Senior officers of DAO are listed in the following table as at 30 June 2005.
AREA OF RESPONSIBILITY

TITLE

NAME

BASIS OF
APPOINTMENT

DRUG AND ALCOHOL OFFICE

EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

TERRY MURPHY

ACTING

CLIENT SERVICES, RESOURCING
AND DEVELOPMENT

DIRECTOR

ERIC DILLON

PERMANENT

CLINICAL SERVICES (NEXT STEP)

DIRECTOR

DR ALLAN QUIGLEY

PERMANENT

OPERATIONS (NEXT STEP)

DIRECTOR

SUSAN ALARCON

ACTING

FINANCIAL AND CORPORATE
SERVICES

DIRECTOR

CLETE MATHEWS

PERMANENT

PREVENTION AND PRACTICE
DEVELOPMENT

DIRECTOR

GARY KIRBY

PERMANENT

POLICY, STRATEGY AND
INFORMATION

MANAGER

MYRA BROWNE

PERMANENT

Pecuniary Interests
Senior officers declared no pecuniary interests during 2005/06.
Corporate Structure
The chart on the following page outlines the corporate structure and reporting lines
for DAO as at 30 June 2006.

ABOUT THE DRUG AND ALCOHOL OFFICE
DAO was formed following the 2001 Community Drug Summit.
The rationale was to bring together the key government organisations working in the
AOD sector. These organisations included the WA Drug Abuse Strategy Office, Next
Step Specialist Drug and Alcohol Services, the Department of Health’s Alcohol and
Drug Policy Branch (Mental Health Division) and the Alcohol and other Drugs
Program.
DAO’s current structure was implemented in July 2002 and is accountable to the
people of Western Australia through the West Australian Government and is
managed by a board of directors. Since operations commenced, its driving mandate
has been to assist with implementation of Community Drug Summit initiatives and
ongoing engagement of the community, government and non-government agencies
in developing initiatives and programs with regard to AOD issues.
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It continues to provide strategic advice to the sector and funding, expertise, services
and resources to assist in meeting the broader recommendations of the Community
Drug Summit and strategic directions of the Western Australian Drug and Alcohol
Strategy 2005-2009.
DAO is divided into five directorates and each has a responsibility and budget for
provision of services to the community. The directorates are:






Next Step Drug and Alcohol Services
Client Services, Resourcing and Development
Prevention and Practice Development
Policy, Strategy and Information
Corporate Services.
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•
•
•

•
•
ALCOHOL PROGRAMS
DRUG PROGRAMS
COMMUNITY PROGRAMS
WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT
PARENT DRUG INFORMATION
SERVICE
DRUG OVERDOSE
PREVENTION PROGRAM

POLICY AND STRATEGY
MONITORING, EVALUATION
AND RESEARCH
ABORIGINAL PROGRAMS
LIBRARY
MEDIA AND COMMUNICATIONS
•

•
•
•
•
•

PREVENTION AND PRACTICE
DEVELOPMENT

POLICY, STRATEGY AND
INFORMATION

CORPORATE SERVICES
• Human Resources
• Corporate Support
• Finance
• Information Technology

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE OF THE
DRUG AND ALCOHOL OFFICE AS AT
JUNE 2006

•

•

•

NON GOVERNMENT
ORGANISATION
CONTRACTING AND
CONTINUOUS QUALITY
IMPROVEMENT
WA COAG ILLICIT DRUG
DIVERSION PROGRAM
ALCOHOL AND DRUG
INFORMATION SERVICE

ALCOHOL AND
DRUG TREATMENT
SERVICES

EXECUTIVE SERVICES

CLIENT SERVICES AND
DEVELOPMENT

DRUG AND
ALCOHOL OFFICE
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

ALCOHOL AND
DRUG AUTHORITY
BOARD

MINISTER FOR
HEALTH

•

•
•
•

•

•
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INPATIENT
WITHDRAWAL SERVICES
PHARMACY SERVICES
YOUTH SERVICES
COMMUNITY CLINICAL
PROGRAMS
CLINICAL TRAINING AND
PLACEMENTS

- North Metropolitan DAC
- South Metropolitan DAC
- East Metropolitan DAC

METROPOLITAN DRUG
AND ALCOHOL CENTRES
(DACs)

NEXT STEP
DRUG AND ALCOHOL
SERVICES

NEXT STEP DRUG AND ALCOHOL SERVICES
Next Step Drug and Alcohol Services (Next Step) is the clinical services directorate of
DAO and provides a range of services for people experiencing problems associated with
their AOD use, as well as support for families. Clinical placement and research programs
support these activities. In the past year, the directorate worked towards consolidating the
administrative and clinical restructure which was implemented over the previous year.
Services under Next Step include the Inpatient Withdrawal Unit, Drug and Alcohol Centres
(DACs), Pharmacy, Youth Services, Community Clinical Programs and Clinical Training
and Placements.
METROPOLITAN DRUG AND ALCOHOL CENTRES (OUTPATIENT SERVICES)
A comprehensive range of outpatient services are provided through three DACs which are
located at East Perth, Fremantle and Warwick. Services provided through these centres
include:





specialised assessment for clients wishing to access the service;
outpatient withdrawal, pharmacotherapy, clinical psychology, case management and
counselling;
inpatient withdrawal (available at Next Step, East Perth, only); and
pharmacotherapy dispensing for clients not managed at community pharmacies (also
available from Next Step, East Perth, only).

There are a number of co-located services in the DACs. Services operating from the North
Metropolitan DAC in Warwick include Next Step, St John of God Health Care, Subiaco
(North Metropolitan Community Drug Service Team [CDST] and the Drug and Alcohol
Withdrawal Network), Holyoake and Cyrenian House.
Co-located services operating from the South DAC in Fremantle include Next Step,
St John of God Health Care, Subiaco (Drug and Alcohol Withdrawal Network), Holyoake,
Cyrenian House, Serenity Lodge and Palmerston Centre (South Metropolitan CDST).
Highlights for 2005/06


Accreditation through the Quality Improvement Council of Australia was achieved in
March 2006.



Development and implementation of memorandums of understanding with all colocating services at the DACs.



Continued participation by the South Metropolitan DAC in research partnership with the
Langton Centre, NSW, testing the efficacy of mirtazapine in the treatment of
amphetamine withdrawal and narrative therapy as an adjunctive treatment in placebo
and active groups.



Partnerships with Notre Dame University and the University of WA School of Medicine
to provide weekly placements to post graduate medical students at the DACs.
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Continued development of collaborative working relationships and clinical pathways
with general practitioners, mental health services and other AOD treatment and support
services.



Outreach by Next Step nursing staff to King Edward Memorial Hospital to provide
assessments and engage pregnant women in AOD treatment by fast tracking referrals
into Next Step.



Significant reduction in the incidence of violence and aggression towards staff
attributed to the development and implementation of policies and procedures and staff
training.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Establishment of an integrated service in the southern metropolitan corridor combining
Next Step DAC and Palmerston CDST to provide comprehensive and expanded
services in this area. This will include a new service in Rockingham. As this model is
successfully piloted, it will be implemented across the metropolitan area.



Establishment of formal processes for service coordination, clinical pathways and
shared case management with mental health services across the metropolitan area.



Continuation of the evaluation and review of work practices to develop policies and
procedures to improve client care.

INPATIENT WITHDRAWAL SERVICES
Next Step provides a supervised medical AOD withdrawal service for clients requiring
medical assistance with detoxification from alcohol, licit and illicit drugs at Moore Street,
East Perth. The facility has 13 standard beds plus two observation beds. Special care
beds are available for young people, pregnant women, mothers with babies, HIV positive
people and Aboriginal people.
Highlights for 2005/06


Development of clinical pathways with the Department of Corrective Services, Prison
Addiction Services Team and the Intensive Supervision Program to support offenders
with drug use problems.



Establishment of a new clinical room which provides adequate storage facilities for
medication and meets infection control standards. This change has led to an increase
in safety for staff as the room is larger, better positioned and fitted with a duress alarm.



Expansion of the inpatient group program to seven days a week offering group
activities that relate to personal development, healthy lifestyle and health education.
Groups provided within the inpatient withdrawal unit are now evaluated to ensure that
they meet clients’ needs.



Enhancement of referral pathways from emergency departments through regular
meetings with nursing and medical staff. Pathways are in place at Royal Perth, Sir
Charles Gairdner, Armadale, Fremantle and Joondalup hospitals.
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Increase in referrals to the withdrawal unit with admission numbers increasing from 469
in 2004 to 502 in 2005. The average occupancy rate also increased from 67.28% in
2004 to 73.64% in 2005. The number of Aboriginal clients accessing the service also
increased from 4.2% last year to 6% of total admissions this year. These increases can
be attributed to more effective direct pathways into the admission unit, good liaison and
education with referrers.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Establishment of dedicated beds and culturally secure programs for Aboriginal people
in the inpatient withdrawal unit.



Establishment of an annual forum for stakeholders to provide feedback on services
delivered by the unit and further enhance partnerships.



Establishment of a formal agreement with Fremantle Hospital to provide a six month
placement for mental health graduate nurses to gain experience in a range of AOD
related issues. This will enable them to take the knowledge and experience back to the
workplace and provide a more informed standard of care.



Supervision for new permanent and casual staff to attain competencies in
administering medications and using retractable needle technology to reduce the
incidence of medication errors and needle stick injuries.

PHARMACY SERVICES
Next Step’s pharmacy is located at Moore St, East Perth, and provides a seven-day-aweek pharmacotherapy service (methadone, buprenorphine and naltrexone) dispensing
for approximately 100 high risk and special needs clients. Clients who dose at the Next
Step pharmacy are generally commencing treatment and once stabilised are usually
transferred to a community pharmacy.
Other clients who receive medication at the pharmacy generally have complex needs that
require ongoing clinical intervention that may exclude management by a community
pharmacy.
Highlights for 2005/06


Collaborative involvement in the development of the state-wide buprenorphine
dispensing guidelines in conjunction with the Community Program for Opioid
Pharmacotherapies (CPOP).



Commencement of monthly benchmarking reporting on measures designed to improve
support to community pharmacies and allied health services.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


In conjunction with CPOP, establish a structured state-wide community pharmacy
support network.
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In conjunction with CPOP, evaluate and review suboxone as a pharmacotherapy
program.



The introduction of a new ordering system for pharmaceutical supplies.

YOUTH SERVICES
Next Step Youth Service (NSYS) is an outpatient service for young people and their
families. It provides an assessment and treatment program for young people between the
ages of 12 and 18 years who are experiencing difficulties in relation to their AOD use and
other co-occurring mental health issues. The service provides a comprehensive
multidisciplinary assessment and treatment program both on-site and on an outreach
basis. The service is also involved in research relating to young people and AOD use
issues.
In response to the multiplicity of issues common among young people who have cooccurring AOD use and mental health difficulties, NSYS employs a multidisciplinary health
team including medical officers, clinical psychologists, youth and family counsellors, a
clinical nurse, social worker and Indigenous and non-Indigenous youth mentors.
Highlights for 2005/06


Participation in the Adolescent Cannabis Check Up Trial, an Australia-wide study
conducted by the National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre. Recruitment for the
study proved successful with 31 young people and nine parents participating in the
program.



Creation of a permanent mentor position with a 50D statement which confirms the
requirement to employ an individual with Indigenous background/Aboriginality to
ensure that Indigenous young people had access to culturally secure AOD services.



Establishment of the Youth Dual Diagnosis steering group with representatives from
key youth mental health and youth AOD treatment services to develop formalised
clinical pathways.



The NSYS has become a signatory to the Interagency Memorandum of Agreement
Department of Health Funded Multi Systemic Therapy (MST) Program. As the MST
program is a tertiary service, the youth service has been appointed referral manager for
AOD services in Western Australia.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Integration of NSYS with the key non-government youth AOD services operated by
Mission Australia.



Development and implementation of a family sensitive assessment tool.



Provision of assessment services at a weekly clinic for young pregnant women
attending King Edward Memorial Hospital.
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COMMUNITY CLINICAL PROGRAMS
The Community Clinical Programs (CCP) section was formed in December 2005 by
amalgamating the Clinical Advisory Service (CAS), the GP Program and CPOP. The
amalgamation was undertaken to increase the coordination and efficiency of service
delivery to clients, pharmacies and medical practitioners involved in AOD treatments
provided in the community setting. The CCP was also relocated at the DAC in East Perth
to ensure better linkage between the community and the specialist treatment services.


The GP program provides both professional development for general practitioners and
support for systems development initiatives to enhance access to general practitioner
services for patients needing treatment for AOD related issues.



The CAS provides 24 hour a day 7 day a week telephone advice and support to health
professionals regarding AOD treatments. CAS provides significant support to both
service providers and clients of CPOP. In the first quarter of 2006, CAS responded to
4175 calls, a 38% increase over the same quarter in 2005.



The CPOP program oversees the provision of methadone and buprenorphine for the
treatment of opioid dependence in Western Australia. CPOP is the largest single drug
treatment program in Western Australia with over 3000 clients currently engaged in
treatment, provided through both the Next Step clinics and private providers.

Highlights for 2005/06


Publication of the Clinical Policies and Procedures for the Use of Methadone and
Buprenorphine in the Treatment of Opioid Dependence. Developed after a long period
of consultation with key stakeholders, this publication provides a comprehensive guide
to the management of clients with opioid dependence.



Creation of a new nursing position within CAS to increase the levels of support for
clients and service providers.



Promotion of enhanced communication and relationship development between general
practitioners, Divisions of GP, mental health and AOD agencies through WANADA/GP
program liaison partnership.



Implementation of the call back telephone service for general practitioner patients on
alcohol pharmacotherapies in conjunction with the Alcohol and Drug Information
Service (ADIS). This project was funded through the Alcohol, Education and Research
Foundation.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Development of a new package of support and training initiatives for general
practitioners and pharmacies providing pharmacotherapy treatment services in the
community.



Development of policy and procedure information to support pharmacies involved in the
provision of opioid treatment services.
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Promotion of AOD agency involvement in primary care initiatives, such as chronic
disease management, Lifescripts and the Better Outcomes in Mental Health Care
initiative.



Support for Aboriginal community controlled health organisations in the provision of
medical services for Indigenous people with AOD problems.

CLINICAL TRAINING AND PLACEMENTS
Clinical training and placements are provided for undergraduate and post-graduate health
professionals to identify and manage AOD-related problems. Three-month placements are
provided for graduate nurses, six-month placements are provided for general practice
registrars and psychiatry registrars, and 12-month placements for psychology registrars.
Clinical placements are also provided for final year social work students and Aboriginal
health worker students.
Highlights for 2005/06


Provision of practicum placements for Marr Mooditj Aboriginal Health College students
studying for a Diploma in Mental Health. The partnership has resulted in improved
retention and completion rates for students, as well as a greater understanding by
mainstream agencies of the workplace issues faced by Aboriginal health workers. Next
Step sponsored an encouragement award presented at the health worker students’
graduation ceremony.



Establishment of a Next Step staff training calendar based on a staff training needs
survey and areas that were raised through the quality improvement process.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Provision of cultural awareness and orientation education for all staff as part of
implementation of the WA Health Aboriginal Cultural Respect Framework at Next Step.



Identification and establishment of core competencies for Next Step staff and ensuring
that staff are supported to achieve these competencies through their performance
development.



Establishment of a regular forum for clinicians to present case studies to their peers for
the purpose of education, peer support and the sharing of clinical skills and ideas.

PREVENTION AND PRACTICE DEVELOPMENT DIRECTORATE
PRACTICE DEVELOPMENT BRANCH
The Practice Development Branch works to enhance the capacity of generalist and
specialist workers to respond effectively to AOD-related harm through evidence-based
practice. The key strategies involve the translation of evidence into practical responses.
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Workforce development encompasses practice and organisational development initiatives
to a wide range of individuals (e.g. nurses and medical, drug specialist and justice staff)
and organisations (e.g. hospitals, Department of Corrective Services, drug specialist
services). Activities include the provision of clinical and education consultancy,
mentorships, resource development (e.g. clinical guidelines), education, training and
assessment (the organisation is a registered training organisation) and contributions to
tertiary education programs.
Highlights for 2005/06


DAO’s Practice Development program was reviewed and a new framework was
developed. The AOD sector was confirmed as the primary target group for treatment
related practice development program activity. An across-sector Practice Development
steering group was developed which includes membership from non-government
organisations, WANADA, Next Step and the Practice Development Branch.



Alcohol and other drug sector partnerships were strengthened through development
and delivery of events for the sector, including a family sensitive practice forum,
advanced clinical supervision training and a supervision community of practice focusing
on supervision. Planning is underway with Palmerston Association for a joint family
symposium in September 2006.



The Training @ DAO calendar has attracted a great deal of interest from the AOD
sector and beyond, with an excellent registration response. Twenty six training events
were delivered and 300 participants attended. The calendar has been broadened to
include a ‘field of therapies’ category.



Resources and information were disseminated to support workers responding to
current drug issues. The Volatile Substance Use CD Rom and the Western Australian
Volatile Substance Use Plan 2005-2009 was disseminated to over 140 agencies
across the AOD, youth and related sectors. A launch and workshop were provided to
support the dissemination of the Clinical Guidelines for the Management of Acute
Amphetamine Related Problems.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


A major symposium Beyond the Boundaries: Families and Professionals Working
Together will be held in September 2006 in partnership with Palmerston Association.



A range of knowledge and skills training to support workers responding to AOD issues
will be offered throughout the year by Training @ DAO calendars and through a series
of lunchtime presentations.



Provision of workforce development activities for the AOD sector including initiatives
arising from the Practice Development steering group and the Quality Framework
implementation.



Increase access for rural and remote workers to a range of workforce development
initiatives via the use of telehealth links, regionally based training and online learning.
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PARENT DRUG INFORMATION SERVICE
The Parent Drug Information Service (PDIS) works in partnership with other programs
within DAO and with relevant external agencies to provide support for parents and families
who may be experiencing AOD problems.
Highlights for 2005/06


Six new parent volunteers were trained in March/April 2006. Volunteers offer support
through the ADIS/PDIS telephone line, community events, adult courts and the
Children’s Court and a new service established through a partnership with Mission
Australia Youth Withdrawal and Respite Service.



The PDIS family resource booklet was completed and distributed.



A review of the PDIS program was completed to inform its development for 2006/07
and beyond.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Expansion of volunteer activity through two volunteer intake training programs.



A family services network forum will be piloted to improve collaboration and integration
between services that provide programs for families affected by AOD use.



Promotional activities will be conducted to raise awareness about PDIS and the
volunteer support network in the general community and with relevant professionals.

DRUG OVERDOSE PREVENTION PROGRAM
The Drug Overdose Prevention Program (DROPP) aims to encourage and support drug
users, agency staff, mainstream health workers and the wider community to enhance
strategies to prevent and respond effectively to accidental drug overdoses and other drugrelated harm, including toxicity related to amphetamine use.
Highlights for 2005/06


More than 270 participants received the Brief Intervention Expired Air Resuscitation
Project (BREATHE) education training in 2005/06. This year the training was offered to
broader target groups, including women’s refuges, AOD residential services and youthat-risk agencies.



Development and dissemination of consumer-focused overdose prevention resources
contributed to targeted community education initiatives.



Provision and implementation of training in opportunistic interventions to prevent and
respond to overdose for health and welfare staff.
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Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Enhance the knowledge and skills of health and AOD workers in relation to overdose
prevention and management through integration of sessions about overdose into
broader workforce development programs.



Develop and produce a DVD resource that provides AOD staff with a training tool to
facilitate drug overdose and prevention training for clients.



Recruit and train volunteers to support DROPP activities with a variety of target groups
and community education settings.



Provide targeted education about volatile substance use for DROPP target groups.

PREVENTION BRANCH
The Prevention Branch provides a range of prevention and early intervention programs
and services that aim to:






prevent and delay the onset of AOD use;
support environments that discourage hazardous and harmful use;
enhance healthy community attitudes and skills to avoid hazardous and harmful use;
support and enhance the capacity of communities and families to address AOD
problems; and
support initiatives that address inappropriate supply of alcohol and other drugs.

The Prevention Branch is comprised of three sub-program areas; alcohol, drug, and
community programs. The range of prevention and early intervention activities include:






public education – including public health campaigns, resource materials, responsible
service of alcohol training;
healthy public policy and legislative strategies – including liquor licensing, local
government alcohol management plans, alcohol accords, tertiary partnerships and
policies to promote responsible service of alcohol and support safer environments;
organisational activities – including coordinated activity with WA Police, liquor industry
and night venue owners to identify opportunities to reduce AOD use and prevent harm;
research and evaluation; and
community support activities – including support of the School Drug Education and
Road Aware (SDERA) project, Local Drug Action Groups (LDAGs), community
development and professional development in AOD prevention.

ALCOHOL PROGRAM
The alcohol program aims to reduce the hazardous and harmful use of alcohol and
associated harm. As part of a comprehensive approach, evidence-based structural,
legislative and education initiatives are undertaken in conjunction with research and
evaluation of programs. Community capacity building and action is a key component of
this approach.
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Highlights for 2005/06


The Western Australian Alcohol Plan 2005-2009 was completed and provides an
evidence-based strategic direction for working with alcohol issues in Western Australia
in relation to policies, programs and services.



Forty responsible service of alcohol training sessions using the DAO state-wide
package were delivered to bar staff in Western Australia. Of these sessions, 19 were
facilitated by DAO in collaboration with WA Police and 21 were facilitated by regional
health and police agencies. There were a total of 662 participants.



Liquor licence applications were monitored and assistance was provided to the
Executive Director, Public Health (EDPH) for interventions regarding harm or ill-health
that may be caused due to the use of alcohol. In the 11 month period from July 2005 to
May 2006, 151 liquor licence applications were investigated that resulted in 40
interventions being lodged by the EDPH. Of the 40 interventions, 16 fully opposed the
application, 24 partially opposed the application and/or requested conditions on the
licence. Overall, there were 13 successful interventions, nine partially successful
interventions and two were not upheld. Decisions on 16 interventions are still pending.



The development of a user guide and capacity building program for local government
authorities to assist with the implementation of alcohol policies and management plans
in order to reduce alcohol-related problems in the community.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Coordination and implementation of specific initiatives of the Western Australian
Alcohol Plan 2006-2009.



Development and implementation of the second phase of the Enough is Enough
alcohol education program in partnership with the Injury Control Council of Western
Australia that aims to reduce the social acceptability of drunkenness and resulting
harm.



Continued monitoring of liquor licence applications and provision of assistance to the
EDPH where necessary, to reduce harm or ill-health that may be due to the use of
alcohol.



Support for the implementation of the user guide and capacity building resource Local
Government Alcohol Management Package – A Tool-kit to Assist Western Australian
Local Governments, including a training package.



Review of the responsible service of alcohol training package.

DRUG PROGRAM
The drug program aims to prevent or delay the onset of drug use and reduce the harm
associated with drug use. This is achieved through the improvement of service
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coordination, increased community access and the development of supportive
partnerships to enable effective and targeted program delivery.
Highlights for 2005/06


Development and implementation of the new Drug Aware amphetamine education
public health program 2006, in partnership with WANADA, and implementation of the
Drug Aware Youth Drug Driving Education Project, the Summer Education Program
and the Drug Aware Pharmacy Project to address amphetamine-type substance use.
These programs complement the Night Venues and Entertainment Events Project
(NVEEP) and make use of the networks established via NVEEP.



Working with the Commissioner for Consumer Affairs resulting in banning the use, sale
and supply of drug-use paraphernalia known as ‘ice pipes’ under consumer protection
law. Ice pipes are used to smoke ice, a form of amphetamine.



Implementation of a monitoring and surveillance model for retailers of cannabis
smoking paraphernalia in association with WA Health and WA Police, and the
development of a new Drug Aware cannabis booklet to be distributed by key AOD
support agencies.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


The Drug Aware amphetamine public health campaign will again be implemented in
partnership with WANADA in popular night and entertainment event venues across the
state, together with radio and press advertising.



Implementation of the cannabis education priority strategies, including targeted
education about the law and harms; development of a resource guide for quitting; and
monitoring and surveillance.



The NVEEP will continue to expand on its supportive policy, organisational
partnerships and education, legislative and environmental strategies, including
observational audits of venues and patron surveys.



As part of the NVEEP, an amphetamine harm reduction education strategy will
distribute mini-information card/fit-pack card and posters for recreational and regular
users via NVEEP, pharmacies, outreach workers and volunteers. The project will also
conduct convenience education via popular night venues across Western Australia.

COMMUNITY PROGRAM
The community program takes a comprehensive approach to reducing AOD-related harm
through building the capacity of health professionals, community groups and community
members to implement evidence-based drug prevention initiatives. Activities include
targeted capacity building activities and resource development, convening an annual statewide prevention workshop, regular liaison with key stakeholders on a state and regional
basis and representation on related funding and management committees.
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Highlights for 2005/06


Development of an extensive state-wide prevention network that includes regional
population health units, CDSTs, Police alcohol and drug advisors as well as officers
from individual stations, LDAGs, Rotary and Lions groups, Roadwise committees, local
governments and Indigenous health services.



In February 2006, DAO, in partnership with WA Police, hosted a state-wide
professional development workshop for key stakeholders in the AOD prevention field.
Evaluations indicated the workshop met intended outcomes and participant
expectations. The workshop will become an annual event.



Implementation of a targeted capacity building program that assisted key stakeholders
to develop and implement evidence-based strategies to address their local drug use
issues. All country regions of the state received at least two regional visits in 2005/06
and all have requested continued support.



Completion of the Indigenous resource package – Your Right to Object. The package
contains an information booklet and a brochure, both designed to support health
professionals and Indigenous communities to address local alcohol availability. This
resource was well received by Aboriginal organisations and other service providers.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Development, in partnership with the Office for Children and Youth, of an education
resource outlining factors for parents to consider if providing alcohol to teenagers.



Ongoing implementation of regional capacity building program to implement evidencebased prevention strategies.



Implementation of an annual state-wide prevention key stakeholder workshop in
partnership with WA Police.



Support LDAG Inc. in the implementation of evidence-based strategies to assist local
groups to address AOD issues.

CLIENT SERVICES, RESOURCING AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTORATE
The Client Services, Resourcing and Development Directorate provides a leadership role
in developing and supporting an integrated network of AOD treatment and support
services. The directorate works with key stakeholders to plan, resource, develop and
monitor the community's access to, and satisfaction with, AOD state-wide treatment and
support services.
The Services and Development Branch aims to:



provide resources to agencies state-wide to ensure a diverse range of treatment and
support services are available in order to improve client access;
deliver quality and consistency in the range and operation of AOD treatment support
services across the state;
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ensure resource allocation remains cost effective and supports service collaboration
and integration;
ensure that the performance of service providers is reviewed and service agreements
clearly define the requirements; and
ensure that continuity of care for clients is coordinated through the integration of
specialised government and non-government AOD treatment and support services.

Highlights for 2005/06


The Quality Framework for all DAO funded services has continued to be implemented
and areas of need identified and addressed through a program of initiatives.



The partnership agreement between DAO, Office of Aboriginal Health (OAH) and
Office of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health (OATSIH) has successfully
coordinated agency action and funding for AOD issues, specifically targeting Aboriginal
needs.



Completion of the Western Australian Volatile Substance Use Plan 2005-2009.



Commencement of a process for developing a single treatment services information
system for Next Step and the non-government AOD sector.



Support for agencies to address issues relating to the use of amphetamines in the
community, with particular emphasis on improving linkages between AOD services,
general practitioners and mental health services.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Establishment of an integrated service in the southern metropolitan corridor combining
Next Step DAC and Palmerston CDST to provide comprehensive and expanded
services in this area. This will include a new service in Rockingham. As this model is
successfully piloted, it will be implemented across the metropolitan area.



Establishment of formal processes for service coordination, clinical pathways and
shared case management with mental health services across the metropolitan area.



Commence implementation of new Commonwealth funded Aboriginal services in the
Pilbara region in partnership with OATSIH, as part of the Pilbara CDST.



Integration of Next Step Youth Services with the key non-government youth AOD
services operated by Mission Australia.

WA DIVERSION PROGRAM
The WA Diversion Program is a Commonwealth funded program that aims to divert
offenders with drug use problems away from the criminal justice system and into
treatment. The initiative consists of a number of police and court diversion programs
ranging from brief, early intervention through to more intensive treatment regimes. The
continual development of the program is monitored through a state reference group
consisting of key stakeholders.
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The current WA Diversion Program priorities are to:





expand access to diversion services across the state;
provide more appropriate diversion programs for Indigenous people;
ensure efficient and effective programs for offenders appearing at the Perth Children's
Court; and
ensure that the program is supported through appropriate training, resource
development and management.

Highlights for 2005/06


Approval for phase two of the WA Diversion Program that includes the expansion and
ongoing operation of the WA Diversion Program for 2005/06 and 2006/07.



Expansion of the Pre-sentence Opportunity Program and Supervised Treatment
Intervention Regime in priority areas, including Mandurah, Albany, Kalgoorlie and
Margaret River.



Expansion of the Young Person’s Opportunity Program from the metropolitan pilot
phase to Albany, Bunbury, Busselton, Carnarvon, Margaret River, the Midwest,
Merredin, Northam and the Pilbara



Implementation of a state-wide evaluation of the court diversion programs.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Continued roll out of early intervention court diversion programs in residing magistrate
courts and identified priority areas, specifically Katanning, Narrogin, the Pilbara and
Murchison regions.



Development of an illicit drug diversion service within the Perth Children’s Court.



Support to the non-government treatment sector, Department of the Attorney General
and WA Police to consolidate diversion programs and improve communications
between key stakeholders.



Implementation of a new accountability model and intensive training across WA Police
to improve the use of point of detection diversion programs (Cannabis Infringement
Notices and All Drug Diversion).



Implementation of treatment services for repeat drink drivers, subject to implementation
of repeat drink driving legislation.

ALCOHOL AND DRUG INFORMATION SERVICE (ADIS)
ADIS is a 24-hour, state-wide, confidential telephone service providing information, advice,
counselling and referral. The service undertakes projects assisting particular client groups
e.g. call back and support for people on alcohol pharmacotherapy and Quitline counselling
for tobacco users, as well as responses to various state and federal AOD prevention
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campaigns. ADIS also encompasses PDIS, the specific phone support service for
parents.
Highlights for 2005/06


ADIS, PDIS and QUIT provided information, counselling and referrals in response to
approximately 20,000 calls to the service. ADIS has experienced an increase in the
number of counselling calls relative to other call types.



A call back service for people on alcohol pharmacotherapies was trialled.



ADIS successfully supported two new national QUIT campaigns relating to graphic
health warnings and advertising related to “light” and “mild” cigarettes.



The service participated in the Newborns and Asthma Prevention Project by
counselling women who smoke.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


The alcohol pharmacotherapy trial will be evaluated and call backs incorporated into
routine service delivery if the trial is successful.



The Newborn and Asthma Prevention Project will be evaluated and incorporated into
routine service delivery if considered successful.



ADIS will review technology options available for improving access to services.

POLICY, STRATEGY AND INFORMATION BRANCH
The Policy, Strategy and Information (PSI) Branch provides a central point of coordination
for AOD activity and involves core functions relating to:







Policy and strategy
Whole of government coordination, planning and reporting
Monitoring, evaluation and research
Media and communications
Library services
Aboriginal Alcohol and Other Drug Programs.

In delivery of these functions, PSI works collaboratively with other sections of DAO, other
state government agencies, Commonwealth government agencies, community groups and
key stakeholders. The overall aim of activity is to ensure a coordinated series of activities,
broadly consistent with the Western Australian Drug and Alcohol Strategy 2005-2009.
POLICY AND STRATEGY
Policy and strategy includes policy development (to support systemic, coordinated and
evidence-based approaches to service and program delivery) and coordination that
enables clear communication and integration of policy across DAO, government agencies
and the community. It is also responsible for implementation of the DAO communications
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strategic plan that sets out directions for the communications of the agency, to provide
effective liaison and communication within and external to the office.
Highlights for 2005/06


Coordinated the development of Agency Drug and Alcohol Action Plans by key human
service government departments that outline specific across-government activities to
achieve the desired outcomes of the Western Australian Drug and Alcohol Strategy
2005-2009.



Developed and implemented integrated planning, review and reporting frameworks for
DAO and the WA Drug and Alcohol Strategy Senior Officer's Group.



In conjunction with the Client Services, Resourcing and Development directorate
developed the Repeat Drink Driving Project to ensure effective implementation of an
appropriate funding and treatment model.



In conjunction with the Office of Mental Health and other DAO directorates, developed
and disseminated the Clinical Guidelines for the Management of Acute Amphetamine
Related Problems.



Developed a quarterly AOD sector newsletter Drugspeak in partnership with WANADA.



Supported communication, media and public relations activities, including media
training for DAO-aligned organisations such as voice (formerly Community Advisory
Committee), LDAGs and the SDERA program.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Continue to support and implement the Western Australian Drug and Alcohol Strategy
2005-2009 and associated strategies:
 Strong Spirit Strong Mind: Western Australian Aboriginal Alcohol and other Drugs
Plan 2005-2009;
 Western Australian Volatile Substance Use Plan 2005-2009; and
 Western Australian Alcohol Plan 2005–2009.



The release of the state drug and alcohol strategy annual report, Reporting on the
Implementation of the WA Drug and Alcohol Strategy 2005-2009, which includes
highlights and reporting against key performance indicators for DAO and human
service government agencies.



In conjunction with the Prevention Branch, develop AOD reporting guidelines for the
media which will be available on the DAO internet.

MONITORING, EVALUATION AND RESEARCH
The role of Monitoring, Evaluation and Research (MER) includes the provision of service
environment reports (e.g. national and state drug use trends), evaluations and research
studies (clinical and prevention) to guide practice. The information generated by the
branch is utilised in priority setting, planning and resource allocation. This branch was
established this year by bringing together relevant activities from across directorates.
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Highlights for 2005/06


Evaluation of the first year of the Young Person’s Opportunity Program, a Western
Australian early intervention initiative to divert juvenile offenders with drug-related
problems into treatment.



The report on the WA Results of the 2004 National Drug Strategy Household Survey
was published and disseminated. MER produced a summary bulletin of illicit drug
prevalence. The full report and the summary are now available on the DAO website as
are other statistical reports and bulletins produced by MER to inform AOD services and
activities.



Participation in the development of the National clinical guidelines for the management
of drug dependency during pregnancy, birth and early development years of the
newborn, which was commissioned by the Ministerial Council on Drug Strategy.
Dissemination included presentations at tertiary hospitals, tertiary institutions and
relevant government departments.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Conduct the evaluation of short-term outcomes for young offenders in Perth, a
comparison of assessment only versus assessment and drug treatment.



Contribute to a collaborative project with the Telethon Institute of Child Health
Research, Edith Cowan University, Curtin University of Technology and the Paediatric
Surveillance Unit to assess women’s knowledge of guidelines for alcohol use during
pregnancy and attitudes about use.



Plan and undertake a review of the first three year’s operation of the Cannabis
Infringement Notice (CIN) scheme, in accordance with the requirement for this as
stipulated in s. 26 of the Cannabis Control Act 2003. This is to advise the Minister for
Health about the outcomes of the CIN scheme in accordance with the criteria the
government indicated when the legislation was introduced; if the scheme should be
continued; and whether the legislative framework should be amended.



Continue to develop and disseminate comprehensive indicators to reflect trends in
AOD use and associated problems for future planning and to support the activities of
DAO. Pulse Check, a quarterly snapshot of the current situation and trends relating to
alcohol and drugs, will be added to the suite of bulletins and reports that provide
agencies, researchers, policy makers and the wider community with accessible
information.

CLINICAL PHARMACOTHERAPY RESEARCH GROUP
The Clinical Pharmocotherapy Research Group is part of MER and builds the capacity of
clinical research in the drugs field. The strategy has included the provision of funds for a
joint status appointment of a senior research fellow, based within the School of Medicine
and Pharmacology at the University of Western Australia (UWA). Current research areas
relate to:
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use of saliva for drug screening and therapeutic drug monitoring in drug dependency
treatment;
diagnosis and management of Axis 1 disorders among drug dependent individuals
(particularly depression and adult ADHD);
assessment and management of drug-related neuropsychological impairment; and
assessment and management of the amphetamine withdrawal syndrome.

Highlights for 2005/06


Provision of assessment services at the East Perth Neuropsychology Clinic, which is a
collaborative arrangement between the School of Medicine and Pharmacology, UWA,
School of Psychology, UWA, School of Psychology, Murdoch University, and Next Step
East Metropolitan DAC. The work of the clinic demonstrates effectiveness in combining
multidisciplinary postgraduate education and research in a clinical setting and is the
first of its kind in Australia. In June 2006, the clinic was awarded a National Drug and
Alcohol Award for Treatment Excellence.



The successful completion of a double blind randomised placebo controlled trial of the
effectiveness of mirtazapine in the treatment of methamphetamine withdrawal. This
was a collaborative project involving Next Step, the School of Medicine and
Pharmacology, UWA and the Langton Centre (NSW). Extensions of this research into
inpatient settings and a further examination of the effectiveness of the narrative therapy
component are now in development.



The consolidation of the collaboration with National Addiction Centre, Kings College,
London (UK), incorporating the publication of two peer reviewed papers, the
commencement of a UK Department of Health funded study examining the effects of
injectable and oral methadone, and the co-supervision of a PhD student.



The publication of five papers in peer-reviewed journals, one technical monograph and
23 conference and seminar presentations.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Continuation of the saliva drug testing projects.



Commencement of further evaluations of new pharmacotherapies for the management
of the methamphetamine withdrawal syndrome.



Extension of current research into the coexistence of adult ADHD and amphetamine
dependence.



Continuation and development of the East Perth Neuropsychology Clinic.



Publication of research outcomes in peak national and international peer-reviewed
journals.

LIBRARY
The DAO library delivers a specialist AOD library service and provides an extensive range
of resources about responding to people affected by AOD use. It provides information
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support for policy, research, treatment, community services, prevention and workforce
development around the state. Students and members of the public also have access to
the collection.
Highlights for 2005/06


A review of the library was undertaken to establish a contemporary model of operation
and inform future services.



Collaboration with health libraries for the provision of electronic access to the British
Medical Journal and Science Direct group of journals and continued enhancement of
the library intranet service improving online accessibility.



Improved access to library services by WANADA members in regional areas.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Implement recommendations from the library review.



Deliver training to support DAO staff in accessing library services.

ABORIGINAL ALCOHOL AND OTHER DRUG PROGRAMS
This program area was established to work across DAO to support and implement the
Strong Spirit Strong Mind: Western Australian Aboriginal Alcohol and Other Drugs Plan
2005–2009 and also support implementation of the WA Health Aboriginal Cultural Respect
Framework across DAO. A key aim is to develop the knowledge and skills within the AOD
sector, including the broader human service area to work in culturally secure ways. The
branch also contributes to policy advice and workforce development initiatives to enhance
responses to Aboriginal people and communities affected by AOD use.
Highlights for 2005/06


The Strong Spirit Strong Mind: Western Australian Aboriginal Alcohol and Other Drugs
Plan 2005–2009 was released and incorporated into government agency action plans.
The DAO, OAH and OATSIH partnership will be responsible for monitoring the
implementation of the plan, with DAO having administrative responsibility for tracking
the progress and reporting on activity.



The Aboriginal Alcohol and Other Drug Worker Forum was held in May 2006 involving
representatives from across the Western Australian AOD sector. The DAO, OAH and
OATSIH partnership will continue this as an annual event. The two-day program
provided state and national updates in relation to AOD initiatives, information sessions
and consultation workshops and was attended by 71 workers.



The Department of Health and Ageing provided funding for an Indigenous National
Alcohol and other Drugs Workforce Development Program with DAO as the lead
agency and registered training organisation for the program. This two and a half year
program will build the capacity of partner jurisdictions to deliver nationally-recognised
AOD training to the Aboriginal AOD workforce as well as support the use of culturally
secure evidence-based AOD practice. Partner jurisdictions include Queensland, South
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Australia, Northern Territory, and the Australian Capital Territory. Negotiations to
include New South Wales and Tasmania commenced.


WANADA received support through the OAH and OATSIH partnership to consult with
agencies and implement continuous quality improvement processes for Aboriginal AOD
community controlled services.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


The third Aboriginal Alcohol and Other Drugs training program, CHC30802 Certificate
III in Community Services Work, will be delivered to Aboriginal workers from
metropolitan, regional and remote areas within the Western Australian AOD sector.
This training will form part of the National Indigenous AOD Workforce Development
Program being led by DAO. A key strategy to support Certificate III participants,
consolidate clinical skills and further develop the Aboriginal AOD workforce is
participation in culturally secure clinical supervision. A new program of culturally secure
clinical supervision training for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal supervisors will also be
developed and provided.



DAO, in partnership with the Aboriginal Health Medical Research Council in NSW, will
develop and customise the support materials for CHC41702 Certificate IV in Alcohol
and Other Drugs Work so that it is culturally secure and relevant to the needs of
Indigenous AOD workers from remote, rural and metropolitan areas. Delivery in
Western Australia is expected to commence in 2007. This will allow access to higher
level qualifications for the Aboriginal AOD workforce and support access to tertiary
level qualifications.



The Aboriginal Alcohol and Other Drugs Program will develop and deliver cultural
awareness training for the non-Aboriginal workforce within DAO and this will extend to
the broader AOD sector in 2007. This training will support workers to apply culturally
secure evidence-based AOD practice when working with Aboriginal people as part of
the implementation of the WA Health Aboriginal Cultural Respect Framework.



Two new culturally secure video resources on amphetamines and alcohol will be
developed for Aboriginal people. This project has been funded by the Department of
Health and Ageing. The resources will have a national perspective and feature scenes
across Australia.

CORPORATE SERVICES
The Corporate Services Directorate provides support for the core operating activities of
DAO. The main functions of the Corporate Services Directorate are to provide efficient
and effective finance, human resources, records and information technology, asset and
building management services, contracting and purchasing and administrative support for
DAO. The Corporate Services Directorate also assists the executive director and the
board to fulfill their statutory accountability requirements under the Alcohol and Drug
Authority Act 1974 and other public accountability legislation.
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The Corporate Service Directorate provides a “full service” to DAO in that almost all
corporate support functions are provided directly by the directorate and not by other
bureau services.
HUMAN RESOURCES AND CORPORATE SUPPORT
The Human Resource and Corporate Support Branch is responsible for human resource
policy and advice, personnel and payroll, industrial relations, records management, risk
management and contract coordination and a range of other administrative functions.
Highlights for 2005/06


Staff participated in working groups designing systems and processes for the
implementation of Shared Corporate Services. This has involved policy and process
review at a whole-of-government level, a new system assessment and working towards
a new structure for the provision of human resource services to DAO.



A total of 67 vacancies were advertised during 2005/06, including expressions of
interest, and this has led to 29 new employees. This does not include fixed term staff
appointed to permanent positions, or casuals.



A new comprehensive induction manual was created which is available on the Intranet.
It has been developed to include site specific information.



The Health Corporate Network (HCN) commenced with DAO having its payroll and
recruitment processing functions transferred in February/March 2006.



The Records Retention and Disposal Schedule was formally approved by the State
Records Committee. This will enable DAO to legally destroy or archive records.



The two risk management teams merged to form one and the Risk Management Policy
was revised.



An energy audit was completed by EMET Consulting in 2004/05, the recommendations
of which have now been implemented during 2005/06.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Updating of human resource web information and redesign of human resource website
information.



Revamping of recruitment processes including advertised vacancy advertisements.



Revising and updating the grievance policy and processes.



Minor and major capital works, including painting of internals, building storage facilities
at the Mount Lawley site and refurbishment of offices to allow for more staff at Mount
Lawley.
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SERVICES
The Information Technology Branch is charged with the maintenance, support,
development and coordination of DAO’s information technology infrastructure in line with
the organisation’s requirements.
Highlights for 2005/06


Implementation of Internet web portal.



Integration of network services to the WA Health active directory environment.



Upgrade of communications and server hardware.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


Integration of DAO business services to Internet environment.



Review of client management application.



Amalgamation of technical services for new integrated service sites in Fremantle and
Rockingham.

FINANCIAL SERVICES
The Finance Branch is responsible for all financial and management accounting functions
for DAO. This includes statutory financial reporting, budgeting and accounting, internal
and external management reporting, accounts payable and receivable, taxation
management and reporting, asset management and reporting and financial advice to
management.
Highlights for 2005/06


DAO ended the financial year with a balanced budget as all state sourced funds have
been fully committed. This is DAO’s first published financial statements prepared under
Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards.



Continued to strengthen the financial function with an increased focus on evaluating
key business activities and risks.

Planned Achievements for 2006/07


The implementation of Oracle 11i is now planned for the coming financial year in
conjunction with the move to Shared Services via HCN for DAO’s transactional
services.



In addition to the financial system, DAO will access the new supply e procurement
system allowing online order entry.
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Roll out of greater access to electronic reporting across all of DAO to improve the level
and timing of financial information.



Further enhance the quality assurance control framework for financial statements and
reporting processes.

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT STRATEGIC PLANNING
FRAMEWORK
The Western Australian Government has identified five strategic goals that contribute to
the vision for Western Australia, which is essentially to provide the best opportunities for
current and future generations to live better, longer and healthier lives. The goals,
supported by strategic outcomes, help to shape the way government services are planned
and delivered, through improved integration and coordination across government.
A summary of significant contributions made by DAO towards achieving the strategic goals
and outcomes of the Western Australian Government is outlined below. The outcomes of
DAO activity are primarily aligned with people and communities.

PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES
DRUG AND ALCOHOL OFFICE’S CONTRIBUTION
GOAL 1: To enhance the quality of life and well-being of all people throughout
Western Australia
As all DAO activity aligns under Goal 1, strategic outcome 7: Reduce drug-related harm,
only significant strategies and achievements have been outlined in this section. For more
detailed information, refer to the section entitled About the Drug and Alcohol Office.
Western Australian Drug and Alcohol Strategy 2005-2009
The Western Australian Drug and Alcohol Strategy 2005-2009 has been developed by
DAO in liaison with the Senior Officers Group (SOG) and provides the broad strategic
direction for a whole of government response to issues relating to AOD use in Western
Australia.
The vision of the drug strategy is for Western Australians to value and lead healthy and
safe lifestyles with access to quality services and programs to prevent, reduce and delay
AOD-related harm. The strategy includes three key priority areas of action: prevention and
early intervention; treatment and support; and law, justice and enforcement.
Underpinning the drug strategy are a number of principles. These are:





access and equity;
integration and coordination of services;
responsiveness to individual, family and community needs;
evidence-based services;
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 cost effectiveness; and
 a flexible and pragmatic approach.
The strategy is consistent with the National Drug Strategy 2005-2009 and is implemented
and monitored by SOG on an annual basis.
Key policy documents
DAO, in liaison with key stakeholders, has drafted three key policy documents that will
guide activities undertaken in priority areas. These are:
 Strong Spirit Strong Mind: Western Australian Aboriginal Alcohol and Other Drugs Plan
2005-2009;
 Western Australian Volatile Substance Use Plan 2005-2009; and
 Western Australian Alcohol Plan 2005-2009.
Strong Spirit Strong Mind: Western Australian Aboriginal Alcohol and Other Drugs Plan
2005-2009 presents an informed framework that adds benefit to the way stakeholders
collaborate and work on issues relating to Aboriginal AOD use. The plan recognises that
AOD use among Aboriginal people is exacerbated by the poor social and economic status
of the Aboriginal community, compared to the broader population.
The Western Australian Volatile Substance Use Plan 2005-2009 has been developed by
the Volatile Substances Advisory Group, convened by DAO. The plan provides guidance
for Western Australian government departments and funded agencies to identify ways to
support local communities to address volatile substance use issues.
In response to clear empirical evidence of the problems associated with hazardous and
harmful alcohol use, and in response to community groups identifying alcohol as the
primary drug of concern, DAO has developed the Western Australian Alcohol Plan 20052009. The plan drives policies, programs and services across government and not-forprofit sectors, and provides an evidence-based and strategic direction for working with
alcohol issues in Western Australia. The intended outcome of the plan is to decrease the
problems associated with hazardous and harmful alcohol use.

DISABILITY ACCESS AND INCLUSION PLAN OUTCOMES
The current DAO Disability Services Plan was submitted to the Disability Services
Commission for 2005/06. This is in line with the government’s new framework surrounding
the Disability Access and Inclusion Plan guidelines. As DAO’s current plan is detailed and
incorporates the six new outcomes it is deemed relevant to the new framework. The
disability services committee has endorsed the creation of a new Disability Access and
Inclusion Plan for 2006/07 which will also need to include an implementation plan and
must highlight the six outcomes individually.
RISK MANAGEMENT
DAO has implemented a number of activities to reduce risk and improve risk processes
and procedures, including the consolidation of committee structures; training for all
committee members; completion of a workstation review for all staff; and implementation
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of equipment upgrade to comply with the recommendations from the review. RiskCover
provided DAO with a rebate due to good performance in previous years.

CULTURAL DIVERSITY AND LANGUAGE SERVICES OUTCOMES
The principal source of initial contact with DAO clients is through ADIS which continues to
provide a telephone interpreter service to clients speaking languages other than English
who are seeking confidential counselling, information or referral to an AOD treatment
service.
Interpreter services are also available through Next Step and the non-government sector
through funding provided by DAO to WANADA.

YOUTH OUTCOMES
Through Next Step, DAO continues to provide specialist outpatient services for young
people aged 12 to 18 years with AOD-related problems. A detailed report of the programs
provided by the youth service, including highlighted achievements for 2005/06, is included
in earlier sections of this report.

THE ECONOMY
DRUG AND ALCOHOL OFFICE’S CONTRIBUTION
GOAL 2: To develop a strong economy that delivers more jobs, more opportunities
and greater wealth to Western Australians by creating the conditions required for
investment and growth
Goal 2, underpinned by strategic outcomes 2, 4, 5, 10 and 14, is contingent on the
development and retainment of a strong workforce. Workforce development is a priority
within the AOD sector and is supported by a range of strategic initiatives across the
continuum of responses. These initiatives collectively enhance the capacity of the Western
Australian community to better respond to AOD-related problems. Strategic workforce
development initiatives include:



developing the capacity and creating opportunities for the wider health sector to better
respond to people with AOD-related problems through collaboration with health
services, training institutions and the non-government sector;
improving DAO’s response to AOD-related issues for Aboriginal people. A workforce
development approach has been adopted to enhance Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal
expertise, increasing the sector’s capacity to develop, deliver and manage culturally
secure AOD initiatives and programs in metropolitan, rural and remote communities;
and
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developing and supporting a comprehensive network of volunteers across the
continuum of AOD responses. This includes training and development and continued
support for volunteers from key target areas including parents (treatment and support);
local community members (prevention and community capacity building); users (harm
reduction, treatment and support); trainee counsellors linked with general practitioner
services (treatment and support); as well as the active participation of community
representatives at the strategic and ministerial policy level.

THE ENVIRONMENT
DRUG AND ALCOHOL OFFICE’S CONTRIBUTION
GOAL 3: To ensure that Western Australia has an environment in which resources
are managed, developed and used sustainably; biological diversity is preserved;
and habitats protected
An application has been developed and submitted to the Office of Sustainable Energy
Development in order to implement building upgrades in the 2005/06 financial year:





air conditioning;
lighting;
hot water systems; and
office equipment: energy efficient refrigerators, water coolers and installation of office
pro software.

WASTE PAPER RECYCLING
DAO implements policies concerning the recycling of waste paper and staff are aware of
the need for recycling. Recycling bins are placed throughout the building and are used
efficiently. Where appropriate, recycled paper products are purchased.

ENERGY SMART GOVERNMENT POLICY
In accordance with the Energy Smart government policy, DAO has committed to achieving
a 24% reduction in non-transport related energy use by 2007/08, with an 8% reduction
targeted for 2005/06. DAO is implementing strategies to reduce greenhouse gases and
these include:






staff awareness programs and training for efficient use and settings of air conditioners
as part of the implementation of air-conditioning upgrades;
as recommended in the energy audit, inefficient air-conditioning units have been
replaced in all DAO facilities;
the lighting system has been upgraded in all DAO premises utilising triphosphur tubes,
automatic timers and motion detectors;
ensuring energy saving features, such as LCD flat screens, are used when replacing
computer equipment; and
Both premises with extensive gardens have now been connected to bores providing a
saving in scheme water.
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Energy Smart government program
Energy Consumption (MJ)
Energy Cost ($)
Greenhouse Gas Emissions (tonnes of CO2)
Performance Indicators:
Office combined services
MJ/Occupancy (People) / annum
MJ/Area (m2) / Annum
Hospitals
MJ/Area (m2) / Annum
MJ/Effective Full Time Staff / Annum
MJ/Occupied Bed Day / Annum
Other Healthcare Buildings
MJ/Area (m2) / Annum

Baseline

2005/06

Variation %

2,377
83,447
558

2,316
80,705
526

-2.57
-3.29
-5.73

10,929
435

8,497
404

-22.25
-7.13

640
18,642
358

630
12,357
360

-1.56
-33.71
0.56

370

399

7.84

THE REGIONS
DRUG AND ALCOHOL OFFICE’S CONTRIBUTION
GOAL 4: To ensure that regional Western Australia is strong and vibrant
In keeping with the strategic outcomes of Goal 4, DAO has endeavoured to ensure
planning and decision-making is based on an understanding of regional issues, and that
approaches are responsive to the needs of diverse communities.
As outlined in the Western Australian Drug and Alcohol Strategy 2005-2009, regional, rural
and remote communities face particular challenges related to AOD use for a broad range
of reasons and continue to be a priority target group. In relation to the drug strategy,
government aims to:
 prioritise resource allocation to regional, rural and remote areas; and
 allow greater flexibility in the use of existing resources to meet local need.
DAO continues to provide state-wide services through a variety of core program activities.
Key regional initiatives implemented by DAO during 2005/06 have been included in earlier
sections of this report. Of particular note are the following activities:


Prevention related activities, including but not limited to:
 delivery of responsible service of alcohol training sessions;
 monitoring of liquor licence applications across Western Australia;
 retailer compliance resources in support of the Cannabis Control Act 2003; and
 delivery of state-wide media campaigns, including support for local strategy
development.



Service development activities, including but not limited to:
 commencement of implementation of a new Aboriginal Alcohol and Drug Team in
the Pilbara in partnership with OATSIH and the Department of Health Pilbara
CDST;
 commitment to fund Jungarni-Jutiya in conjunction with the WA Health Country
Health Service for the placement of a AOD worker in Halls Creek to address street
drinking and provide treatment services at the sobering-up centre;
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provision of additional resources to Drug Arm’s residential rehabilitation service at
Geraldton;
further implementation of early intervention court diversion programs in regional
locations, including Aboriginal specific programs;
further support and implementation of the quality framework in partnership with
WANADA; and
strengthening of the OAH, OATSIH and DAO partnership through collaboration on
regional initiatives.



Partnerships with general practitioners, including but not confined to:
 call back services for GP patients on alcohol pharmacotherapies; and
 call back services for GP patients wanting to quit smoking.



Workforce development activities including:
 provision of a nationally recognised Aboriginal Alcohol and Other Drugs training
program, CHC30802 Certificate III in Community Services Work, to further develop
the Aboriginal AOD workforce in regional and remote areas; and
 use of telehealth to provide AOD training to regional mental health workers.



Partnerships with GPs, including but not limited to:
 call-back services for GP patients on alcohol pharmacotherapies; and
 processes implemented to support GP patients wanting to quit smoking.

GOVERNANCE
DRUG AND ALCOHOL OFFICE’S CONTRIBUTION
GOAL 5: To govern for all Western Australians in an open, effective and efficient
manner that also ensures a sustainable future
Goal 5, underpinned by the associated strategic outcomes, identifies governance and
supporting processes as critical to the sustainability of Western Australia. Themes such
as partnerships, sustainability, community engagement, integrated and coordinated
service delivery and value for money service delivery are key principles that guide AOD
planning and service delivery. This is outlined in the Western Australian Drug and Alcohol
Strategy 2005-2009 and supporting documents.
Strategic outcome 1 highlights the importance of high quality service delivery. The AOD
sector continues its commitment to evidence-based treatment and support services, and is
continually striving to improve the quality of service provision. The process of improving
quality AOD service provision in Western Australia continues through:



accreditation for drug specialist services within DAO through the Quality Improvement
Council of Australia, which was achieved in March 2006; and
the implementation of a Quality Framework for the AOD non-government sector, in
partnership with WANADA and other key stakeholders.

In keeping with strategic outcomes 2 and 8, DAO continues to support voice (previously
known as the Community Advisory Council) for AOD issues, ensuring the community is
able to participate and contribute to government processes. The aim of voice is to be a
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credible conduit between the community and government, ensuring that DAO and other
government agencies receive independent advice from the professional and broader
community. voice has a wide range of experience and expertise on AOD-related issues
and collectively represents the interests of young people, families, Aboriginal and culturally
and linguistically diverse communities, people from rural and remote areas, drug users and
service providers.
Strategic outcome 3 identifies the importance of whole-of-government approaches to
planning and decision-making. This approach is particularly important for the AOD sector,
as AOD problems affect the entire community and have a significant health, social and
economic impact on all Western Australians. Although some problems are the direct result
of use, DAO recognises that complex social, psychological and economic factors underpin
AOD-related problems. The complexity of these issues requires more than a single
agency response. For this reason a whole of government approach continues to be
adopted. The primary aim of this approach is to enhance coordination across key
departments to ensure resources are used effectively to deliver the best outcomes.
Across-government activity is coordinated through SOG.

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY OUTCOMES
The following table reports equity and diversity indicators for DAO.
Indicator
EEO Management Plan
Organisational plans reflect EEO
Policies and procedures encompass EEO requirements
Established EEO – grievance officers
Grievance Officer Training and staff awareness programs
Diversity:
 Women
employees
 CALD
employees
 Indigenous Australians
employees
 People with disabilities
employees

Level of Achievement
For completion Nov 06
Is currently incorporated
Completed
Two grievance officers appointed
Completed, ongoing training arranged
for 05/06

69% of total DAO
4% of total DAO
3% of total DAO
2% of total DAO

There were no reported grievances regarding equal employment opportunity during the
year.

EVALUATIONS
Major evaluations, research and publications undertaken by DAO are listed under the
section of the annual report covering the Policy, Strategy and Information Branch and
listed in the appendices.

INFORMATION STATEMENT
DAO has a current information statement which may be obtained from the agency’s
executive officer/freedom of information coordinator. In accordance with the Freedom of
Information Act 1992, the information statement is revised and updated as required each
year.
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In 2005/06 there were two freedom of information applications. In the first application
access to the requested documents was granted without a claim for exemption being
made for any part of the documentation. In the second application, DAO did not hold any
documentation pertaining to the request.

RECORD KEEPING PLAN
A Record Keeping Plan has been developed by DAO in accordance with the provisions of
the State Records Act 2000. The Retention and Disposal Schedule of this plan (RD
2004273) was considered by the State Records Advisory Committee and approved by the
State Records Commission at its meeting on 8 December 2005.
DAO has an obligation under the State Records Act to dispose records as being corporate
assets and their efficient storage, disposition and access leads to effective business
operations.
An online training program currently exists and new staff are offered and encouraged for
training on Records Management.

ADVERTISING AND SPONSORSHIP
Class of Expenditure
Advertising agencies
Brand Agency
Vinten Browning
Media advertising organisations
Media Decisions WA
Marketforce Productions
Xpress magazine
Canning Division of General Practice
TOTAL EXPENDITURE

2005/06
$25,884.87
$50,227.70
$48,841.61
$23,833.00
$1,028.00
$50.00
$149,865.18

SUSTAINABILITY
DAO’s role of sustainability in the public health system is included within WA Health’s
Sustainability Action Plan 2005-2009. DAO contributes to sustainability of individuals and
communities through actions to maintain and improve health status, particularly in relation
to the reduction of harm from AOD use. Also, in its operations, DAO contributes to the
sustainability of the environment through energy smart and waste reduction initiatives.
Sustainability is taken into account in DAO’s planning and service delivery through broad
consultation with relevant communities and the engagement of stakeholders. For example,
the development of the Western Australian Alcohol Plan 2005-2009 included consultation
with key stakeholders and a public submission phase.
Sustainability through diversity is achieved through induction, information dissemination
and cultural awareness. The Aboriginal Alcohol and Other Drugs Program developed and
commenced delivery of cultural awareness training for the non-Aboriginal workforce within
DAO and this will extend to the broader AOD sector in 2007.
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Volunteering for community development has been a long standing priority of DAO and
there continues to be three different volunteer programs that add capacity to the service
provision for the community and these are:




a volunteer addiction counsellor training program;
PDIS volunteers; and
volunteers with DROPP.

These programs recruit, train and support volunteers in AOD related work.
The establishment of a telehealth facility in DAO extends the access for practice
development to rural and remote workers who would not otherwise receive training
opportunities, or alternatively would require significant travel resources.

COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC SECTOR STANDARDS AND ETHICAL
CODES
Employee Profile
The following table shows the number of full time equivalent (FTE) staff by category
employed by DAO.
Category
Nursing
Administration/Clerical
Medical Support
Hotel Services
Maintenance
Medical (Salaried)
TOTAL

2005/06
29.9
94.9
23.0
12.5
0
12.1
172.4

2004/05
28.5
89.0
28.6
10.4
0
11.5
169.0

2003/04
29.4
91.5
29.2
11.5
0
12.5
174.2

During 2005/06, FTE increased due to an expansion of the Aboriginal Health and Illicit
Drug Diversion programs with increased funding from the Commonwealth.
Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes
DAO has complied with the DAO Code of Conduct, the WA Public Sector Code of Ethics
and all public sector standards in human resources management.
Directors and managers are responsible for compliance with public sector standards and
ethical codes. Monitoring and advice is provided by the Human Resources Branch to
ensure that all processes and transactions comply with the standards.
Breach of Standard Applications
Number lodged
Breaches found
Multiple breaches
Applications under review
Material breaches
Non-material breaches

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
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CORRUPTION PREVENTION
DAO has informed staff about internal notification procedures for dealing with misconduct
and corruption.

PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURES
DAO fully supports the aim of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 and has a
designated officer responsible for public interest disclosure (PID) matters. An agency
policy and procedures are in place to ensure the agency complies with the legislation.
DAO does not tolerate any of its officers or employees engaging in acts of victimisation or
reprisal against those who make a PID. The DAO executive have been required to sign off
to their responsibilities/requirements under the Act and are aware that any detrimental
action taken against a member of staff who has lodged a complaint will not be tolerated.
Complainants are advised when lodging a claim to ensure that either the PID officer or
executive director is informed of any detrimental action taken against them as a result of
their disclosure. Where victimisation or reprisals are reported, appropriate action will be
taken and records maintained in this regard on the PID file. In addition, agency wide
communications supporting the PID legislation and providing details of the DAO policy and
procedures are routinely sent out to all staff.
In 2005/06 there were no PIDs made to DAO.

____________________________
Mr Terry Murphy
A/Executive Director
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
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APPENDICES
APPENDIX ONE – RESEARCH PROJECTS
The Clinical Pharmacotherapies Research and Teaching Program conducts a number of
research projects to guide clinical practice in the general areas of therapeutic drug
monitoring, the management of withdrawal from methamphetamines, drug-induced
neuropsychological impairment, opioid pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics, and
concurrent drug and mental health-related problems.
Projects conducted during 2005/06 include:
Double blind randomised placebo controlled trial of the effects of mirtazapine upon
methamphetamine withdrawal
Dr Kyle R. Dyer1,2, Dr Mark Montebello3, Chris Cruickshank1, Dr Allan Quigley 2
1. School of Medicine and Pharmacology, UWA
2. Next Step Drug and Alcohol Services WA
3. Langton Centre NSW.
The use of oral fluid for therapeutic drug monitoring within opioid replacement
pharmacotherapy
Dr Kyle R. Dyer1,2, Catherine Wilkinson1, Prof. Kenneth F. Ilett1,3, Dr Kim Wolff4,Hayley
Taylor5, Leon J. Dusci3, Dr Timothy Mitchell4
1. School of Medicine and Pharmacology, UWA
2. Next Step Drug & Alcohol Services WA
3. Division of Clinical Pathology, PathCentre WA
4. National Addiction Centre, Maudsley Hospital, UK.
Neuropsychological functioning among a methamphetamine and alcohol-dependent
treatment population
Dr Kyle Dyer1,2, Dr Allison Fox3, Dr Marjorie Collins4
1. School of Medicine and Pharmacology, UWA
2. Next Step Drug and Alcohol Services WA
3. School of Psychology, UWA.
The diagnostic and classification accuracy of a neuropsychological screening
battery developed for alcohol or amphetamine dependent clients
Dr Allison Fox3, Dr Kyle Dyer1,2, Dr Marjorie Collins4
1. School of Medicine and Pharmacology, UWA
2. Next Step Drug and Alcohol Services WA
3. School of Psychology, UWA
4. School of Psychology, Murdoch Uni.
Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamic properties of oral, intramuscular and
intravenous methadone in methadone maintenance patients
Dr Nick Lintzeris3, Dr Tim Mitchell3, Dr Kyle Dyer1,2, S Mayet3, Dr K Wolff3, Prof. J Strang3,
Catherine Wilkinson1
1. School of Medicine and Pharmacology, UWA
2. Next Step Drug and Alcohol Services WA
3. National Addiction Centre, Maudsley Hospital, UK.
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Subjective and physiological responses among racemic-methadone maintenance
patients in relation to relative (S) - versus (R)- methadone exposure
Dr Tim Mitchell3, Dr Kyle Dyer1,2
1. School of Medicine and Pharmacology, UWA
2. Next Step Drug and Alcohol Services WA
3. National Addiction Centre, Maudsley Hospital, UK.
Psychometric evaluation of the Beck Depression Inventory-II among drug
dependent patients
Dr Kyle Dyer1,2, Dr Alison Marsh3, Dr Sophie LaVincente4
1. School of Medicine and Pharmacology, UWA
2. Next Step Drug and Alcohol Services WA
3. School of Psychology, Curtin University
4. Dept. of Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology, University of Adelaide.
Next Step Treatment Census: Consumer Treatment Satisfaction and Outcome
Dr Kyle Dyer1,2, Laura Fowles2
1. School of Medicine and Pharmacology, UWA
2. Next Step Drug and Alcohol Services WA.
The relationship between social identity and drug use among a treatment population
Dr Kyle Dyer1,2, Prof. Mark Rapley3, Dr Justine Dandy3
1. School of Medicine and Pharmacology, UWA
2. Next Step Drug and Alcohol Services WA
3. School of Psychology, Edith Cowan University.
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APPENDIX TWO – PUBLICATIONS AND REPORTS
Bartu, A. & Stonely, S. (2006). Drugs in pregnancy and neonatal Abstinence syndrome:
Amphetamine type substances. National clinical guidelines for management of drug use
during pregnancy, birth and the early development years of the newborn. Ministerial
Committee on Drug Strategy, New South Wales Health.
Bartu, A. (2006). New guidelines for care of drug-misusing women and their neonates.
PACEsetters, vol. 3,1, 50-51.
Bartu, A., Sharp, J. Ludlow, J. & Doherty, D. (2006). Postnatal home visiting for illicit drugusing mothers and their infants: a randomised controlled trial. Australian New Zealand
Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, 46:419-426.
Dyer, K.R., & Cruickshank, C. (2005). Depression and other psychological health problems
among methamphetamine dependent patients in treatment: implications for assessment
and treatment outcome. Australian Psychologist 40(2), 96-108.
Dyer, K.R. (2005). Methadone Maintenance treatment and mood disturbances:
pharmacological and psychological implications. Heroin Addiction and Related Clinical
Problems, 7(2), 5-11.
Fowles, L., & Dyer, K.R. (2005). Next Step Outpatient Consumer Satisfaction Survey Final
Report. Perth: Next Step Specialist Drug & Alcohol Services Monograph.
Mitchell, T.B., Dyer, K.R., and Peay, E.R. (2006). Factors related to decision making by
Australian methadone prescribers. Substance Use and Misuse, 41(3), 393-404.
Mitchell,T.B., Dyer, K.R., Newcombe, D., Somogyi, A., & White, J. (2006). Fluctuations in
(R,S)-methadone pharmacokinetics and response among long-term methadone
maintenance patients. Addiction Biology, 11, 170-174.
Newcombe, K., Fox, A.M., & Dyer, K.R. (2006). Reversal learning deficits among alcoholand methamphetamine-dependent individuals. Brain and Cognition (In Press).
State Dual Diagnosis Planning Group, (2006). Clinical Guidelines – Management of Acute
Amphetamine Related Problems. Drug and Alcohol Office and Office of Mental Health,
Perth.
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APPENDIX THREE - CONFERENCE PAPERS AND SEMINARS
Bartu, A., Gawthorne, G.S., Codde, J., & Holman, C.D.J. (2005). Comorbidity of a cohort
of heroin and amphetamine users in Western Australia 1985-1988. Paper presented at the
X111 World Congress of Psychiatry, Cairo, 10-15 September 2005.
Bartu, A., Fatovich, D., Gawthorne, G., & Atrie, J. (2005). Morbidity and mortality
associated with heroin related overdose presentations to an emergency department. A
record linkage study. Paper presented at the APSAD conference, Science, Practice,
Experience in Melbourne, 6-9 November.
Bartu, A., Copeland, J., Psychiogios, C. & Dowling C. (2005). Overview of patterns of
cannabis use in Australia and characteristics of users in treatment. Paper presented at the
APSAD conference Science, Practice, Experience, Melbourne, 6-9 November.
Bartu, A. & Gawthorne, G. (2005). Hazard of admission to psychiatric services of
amphetamine and heroin users in Western Australia. Paper presented at the Australian
and New Zealand College of Mental Health Nurses International 31st Conference,
Fremantle, 24-28 October.
Bartu, A., Copeland, J., York, L. & Psychiogios, C. (2005). Characteristics of clients of
treatment services and predictors of residential care. Paper presented at the
2nd. International Congress on Innovations in Nursing, Fremantle, 8-11 November.
Bartu, A., Hamilton, D., McLaurin, R., Doherty, D. & Hackett P. (2006). Transplacental
transfer of buprenorphine. Perinatal Society of Australia and New Zealand 10th Annual
Congress. Perth Convention Centre, Perth, 3-6 April.
Carroll, M. (2005). Utilisation and perceptions of alcohol and other drug specialist treatment
services by culturally and linguistically diverse clients. Science meets practice: Clinical
Pharmacotherapies Research Unit Presentation Day, Eastern Metropolitan Drug and
Alcohol Centre, East Perth, 21 December 2005.
Collins, M. (2005). Efficacy of communication interface between a neuropsychology clinic
and its referral source. Science meets practice: Clinical Pharmacotherapies Research Unit
Presentation Day, Eastern Metropolitan Drug and Alcohol Centre, East Perth, 21 December
2005.
Collins, M., Fox, A., & Dyer, K. (2005). Future directions for the East Perth Neuropsychology
Clinic. Science meets practice: Clinical Pharmacotherapies Research Unit Presentation
Day, Eastern Metropolitan Drug and Alcohol Centre, East Perth, 21 December 2005.
Cruickshank, C. (2005). An update on clinical research into amphetamine withdrawal.
Seminar presented at Eastern Metropolitan Drug and Alcohol Centre, East Perth, 5 October
2005.
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Cruickshank, C. (2005). Double-blind randomised placebo controlled trial of the
effectiveness of mirtazapine for the management of the amphetamine withdrawal syndrome.
Science meets practice: Clinical Pharmacotherapies Research Unit Presentation Day,
Eastern Metropolitan Drug and Alcohol Centre, East Perth, 21 December 2005.
Cruickshank, C. (2005). The nature and temporal profile of the amphetamine withdrawal
syndrome among a drug-dependent treatment population. Science meets practice: Clinical
Pharmacotherapies Research Unit Presentation Day, Eastern Metropolitan Drug and
Alcohol Centre, East Perth, 21 December 2005.
Cruickshank, C., Dyer, K.R., & Ilett, K. (2005). Methamphetamine: Chronic Symptoms &
Withdrawal. Seminar presented at The Langton Centre, Surry Hills NSW, 21-22 November
2005.
Cruickshank, C., Dyer, K.R., & Ilett, K. (2005). The nature and temporal pattern of the
amphetamine withdrawal syndrome among a drug-dependent treatment population. Oral
presentation at Australasian Society of Clinical & Experimental Pharmacology and
Toxicology (ASCEPT) Annual Scientific Meeting, Melbourne, 4-7 December 2005.
Costello, E., Donovan, K., & Kirby, G. (2006). Night Venues and Entertainment Events
Project. Paper presented at the Drugs and Young People Conference, Sydney, 24-26 May
2006.
Costello, E., Browne, T., Robey, E., & Kirby, G. (2006). Drug Aware Youth Website. Paper
presented at the Drugs and Young People Conference, Sydney, 24-26 May 2006.
Dowdell, J.A., Fenwick, J.A.B., Bartu, A., & Sharp, J. (2006). Living on the fringe: the early
mothering experiences of illicit substance abusing women. Perinatal Society of Australia
and New Zealand 10th Annual Congress, Poster presentation, Perth Convention Centre,
Perth, 3-6 April 2006.
Dyer, K. (2005). Current activities and future directions of the Clinical Pharmacotherapies
Research Group. Science meets practice: Clinical Pharmacotherapies Research Unit
Presentation Day, Eastern Metropolitan Drug and Alcohol Centre, East Perth, 21 December
2005.
Dyer, K. (2005). The 2005 Next Step Consumer Survey. Science meets practice: Clinical
Pharmacotherapies Research Unit Presentation Day, Eastern Metropolitan Drug and
Alcohol Centre, East Perth, 21 December 2005.
Dyer, K. (2005). 2006 strategic directions for the Clinical Pharmacotherapies Research
Group. Science meets practice: Clinical Pharmacotherapies Research Unit Presentation
Day, Eastern Metropolitan Drug and Alcohol Centre, East Perth, 21 December 2005.
Dyer, K. (2006). The nexus among research, education, practice and policy: Examples from
the clinical pharmacological investigation of drug dependence. Seminar presented at the
School of Medicine & Pharmacology, University of WA, 27 April 2006.
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Dyer, K. (2006) Balancing the potential with the present: The use of oral fluid for drug
detection, quantification and the assessment of impairment. Paper presented at 24/7: Workrelated alcohol and drug sue. A national forum. Adelaide, 29-30 June 2006.
Dyer, K. (2006) The use of oral fluid for drug detection and quantification in drug
dependence treatment settings. Seminar presented at Warinilla Drug Clinic, DASSA,
Adelaide, 29 June 2006.
Dyer, K. & Cruickshank, C. (2006) Current issues in amphetamine dependence and
treatment. Training Event: Drug and Alcohol Office, Mountt Lawley, 30 March 2006.
Fox, A.M., Dyer, K. R., Collins, M. (2005). Detecting Sub-optimal Effort on Cognitive
Screening in Substance Dependent Clients. International Neuropsychology Symposium,
Dublin, Ireland, 6-9 July 2005.
Hewlett, T. (2005). Social identity in action: Drug dependence, recovery and relapse.
Science meets practice: Clinical Pharmacotherapies Research Unit Presentation Day,
Eastern Metropolitan Drug and Alcohol Centre, East Perth, 21 December 2005.
Jacobson, H. (2006). Supporting the family and enhancing drug court participant outcomes
through the role of the Parent Drug Information Service in the Perth Drug Court. Presented
at the 3rd International Conference on Therapeutic Jurisprudence, 6-8 June 2006.
May, P. (2006). Bridging Evidence and Practice: Evaluation on a dual diagnosis Session
in a London inner city emergency psychiatric service. Drug and Alcohol Nurses of Australia
(DANA) Conference, Sydney NSW, June 2006.
McLaurin, R., Sharp, M., Hamilton, D., Bartu, A. & Doherty, D. (2006) Neonatal abstinence
syndrome: buprenorphine versus methadone exposure. Perinatal Society of Australia and
New Zealand 10th Annual Congress, Perth Convention Centre, Perth. 3-6 April.
Morton, L. (2005). Cognitive impairment among amphetamine and alcohol users entering
treatment. Science meets practice: Clinical Pharmacotherapies Research Unit
Presentation Day, Eastern Metropolitan Drug and Alcohol Centre, East Perth, 21
December 2005.
Newcombe, K. (2005). Orbito frontal function among drug users. Science meets practice:
Clinical Pharmacotherapies Research Unit Presentation Day, Eastern Metropolitan Drug
and Alcohol Centre, East Perth, 21 December 2005.
Plumley, N., Allman, A, Dyer, K., Ross; C, Musca, R. (2005). Assisted animal therapy in a
drug and alcohol detoxification unit. Paper presented at APSAD 2005 National
Conference, Melbourne, Victoria, 1-3 November 2005.
Plumley, N. (2005). Follow up Study of Animal Assisted Therapy in a Drug and Alcohol
Detoxification Unit. Paper presented at the APSAD conference Science, Practice,
Experience Poster presentation in Melbourne, 6-9 November 2005.
Ross, C., Dyer, K.R., Wilkinson, C., & Laing, L. (2005). It may only be spit to you, but this
might be the answer we’re looking for! Saliva drug testing. Paper presented at 2nd
International Conference on Innovations in Nursing, Fremantle, 8-11 November 2005.
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Salter, A. (2005). WA Comprehensive Diversion Program. WA Magistrates Conference.
Magistrates Courts and Tribunals, Department of Justice, Tradewinds Hotel, Perth. 9-10
November 2005.
Salter, A. (2005). WA Comprehensive Diversion Program. WA Country Magistrates'
Conference. Magistrates Courts and Tribunals, Department of Justice, Central Law Courts,
Perth, 14 November 2005.
Salter, A. (2006). WA Comprehensive Diversion Program. Department of Corrective
Services. Department of Corrective Services Level 6 Managers' Conference, Mercure
Hotel, Perth. 30 March 2006.
Salter, A. (2006). Western Australian Diversion Program: A continuum of court based
treatment programs. Queensland Health. Court Drug Diversion Initiatives Conference,
Carlton Crest Hotel, Brisbane, 26-27 May 2006.
Schubert, S. (2005). Accounting for amphetamine dependence: ADHD as a medico-moral
membership category. Science meets practice: Clinical Pharmacotherapies Research Unit
Presentation Day, Eastern Metropolitan Drug and Alcohol Centre, East Perth, 21
December 2005.
Timms, T., Colthart, A., & Thomas, M. (2006). Why do I come here. 5th International
Conference on Drugs and Young People Conference, Randwick NSW, 24 26 May 2006.
Travers,B.,(2006) Young Person's Opportunity Program.5th International Conference on
Young People and Drugs. AJC Convention Centre, Randwick, NSW, 24-26 May 2006.
Travers,B.,(2005) Young Person's Opportunity Program. Crime Prevention Council of WA,
Youth at Risk Forum, Balga WA, 8 Nov 2006.
Wilkinson, C. (2005). The use of saliva for TDM in methadone maintenance: Oratec trial
and potential use of benchtop analyser. Science meets practice: Clinical
Pharmacotherapies Research Unit Presentation Day, Eastern Metropolitan Drug and
Alcohol Centre, East Perth, 21 December 2005.
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APPENDIX FOUR – POSTGRADUATE STUDENT SUPERVISION 2005/06
7 postgraduate research projects have been supervised by Dr Kyle Dyer.
Mr Mathew Albrecht, Drug cued modulation of the startle reflex in amphetamine users
undergoing treatment. Pharmacology Unit, University of Western Australia. Supervisors
Dr Kyle Dyer, Assoc. Prof. M. Martin-Iverson.
Ms Martine Carroll, Utilisation and perceptions of alcohol and other drug specialist
treatment services by culturally and linguistically diverse patients, Master of Clinical
Psychology, Edith Cowan University. Supervisors: Dr Justine Dandy, Dr Kyle Dyer.
Mr Christopher Cruickshank, The assessment and management of the methamphetamine
withdrawal syndrome. PhD, School of Medicine & Pharmacology, University of Western
Australia. Supervisor: Dr Kyle Dyer.
Ms Catherine Wilkinson, The use of saliva for therapeutic drug monitoring in methadone
maintenance. PhD, School of Medicine & Pharmacology, University of Western Australia.
Supervisors Dr Kyle Dyer, Dr Kim Wolff (National Addiction Centre, Kings College London
UK).
Ms Theresa Hewlett, Social Identity in action: drug dependence. recovery and relapse.
Honours, School of Psychology, Murdoch University. Supervisors Dr Kyle Dyer, Dr Susan
Hansen.
Ms Kim Newcombe, The effects of drug dependence on executive functioning. Honours,
School of Psychology, University of Western Australia. Supervisors: Dr Allison Fox, Dr
Kyle Dyer.
Ms Sarah Schubert,Amphetamine withdrawal and adult ADHD. Honours, School of
Psychology, Murdoch University. Supervisors Dr Kyle Dyer, Dr Susan Hansen.

52

PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS
OF THE
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN
ALCOHOL AND DRUG
AUTHORITY
2005/06

53

54

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
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INDICATORS OF EFFECTIVENESS
OUTCOME 1
Improvement in the general health, psychological health and social relationships of
people experiencing AOD-related problems.
Indicators of Effectiveness
Indicators 1.1 and 1.2 are for outpatient services provided directly by the Western
Australian Alcohol and Drug Authority (WAADA) through centres in East Perth (including a
specialist Youth Service), Warwick and Fremantle. Indicators 1.3 and 1.4 refer to inpatient
withdrawal services provided at East Perth.
Indicators 1.5, 1.6 and 1.7 are for inpatient and outpatient services provided by not-forprofit organisations funded by the WAADA. These include 12 Community Drug Service
Teams (CDSTs) and 25 organisations providing treatment services, seven of which
provide inpatient residential services.
Prior to 1 July 2002 services provided by not-for-profit organisations were the responsibility
of the Western Australian Drug Abuse Strategy Office. Reporting and data collection
systems for services provided by not-for-profit organisations therefore differ from those
provided by the WAADA which results in different effectiveness indicators for the two
categories of services.
1.1

1.2
1.3

1.4
1.5
1.6

1.7

1.1

Percentage of WAADA outpatient treatment episodes rated by clinicians as having
improved the general health, psychological health, social relationships and drug
use of clients.
Percentage of WAADA outpatient clients who report being satisfied with treatment
services.
Percentage of WAADA inpatient treatment episodes rated by clinicians as having
improved the general health, psychological health, social relationships and drug
use of clients.
Percentage of WAADA inpatient clients who report being satisfied with treatment
services.
Percentage of clients who remained in treatment until completion of treatment
programs in not-for-profit organisations funded by the WAADA.
Improvement in the general health, psychological health, social relationships and
drug use of clients of not-for-profit organisations funded by the WAADA as rated
by clients before and after treatment.
Percentage of clients of not-for-profit organisations funded by the WAADA who
report being satisfied with outpatient and inpatient treatment services.
Percentage of WAADA outpatient treatment episodes rated by clinicians as
having improved the general health, psychological health, social
relationships and drug use of clients.

Assessments by clinicians providing services through the WAADA indicate improvements
following treatment.
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Table 1.1.1 - Percentage of clients rated as “improved” when leaving an outpatient
treatment program at the WAADA.
Component of Treatment
General Health
Psychological Health
Social Relationships
Primary Drug Use

Target
60%
60%
60%
60%

2005/06
69%
68%
63%
77%

2004/05
71%
71%
65%
77%

2003/04
64%
63%
57%
69%

2002/03
66%
66%
63%
68%

2001/02
62%
63%
59%
65%

Notes:
 information is based on ratings of improvement made by clinicians for clients who left a program of
treatment during the year. Information is not available for clients who attended services for assessment
but did not proceed to a treatment program during the year;
 the rating of “improved” used in the indicator includes clients who are rated as “improved” and “much
improved” by clinicians;
 the population for this indicator is made up of those clients who left a program of treatment during
2005/06 and the population size is 1,322;
 a formal survey was not conducted requiring questionnaires to be returned and so the concept of a
response rate is not appropriate for this indicator, however it is informative to note that assessments of
improvement were made for 693 clients or 52% of the 1,322 clients who left a treatment program; the
remaining 48% of clients were not available for a rating to be made when they left treatment or the rating
was not made for other administrative reasons;
 the sample size is 693; and
 survey results have a sampling precision of plus or minus 2.57% at the 95% confidence level with a
presumed proportion of incidence in the population of 0.5 using a population size of 1,322 and a sample
size of 693.

1.2

Percentage of WAADA outpatient clients who report being satisfied with
treatment services.

Research shows that levels of client satisfaction with drug and alcohol treatment are
related to the levels of treatment success and the extent to which they remain in treatment.
Table 1.2.1 - Percentage of WAADA outpatient clients who report being satisfied with
treatment services.
Target
90%

2005/06
89%

2004/05
94%

2003/04
92%

2002/03
87%

2001/02
87%

Notes:
 this indicator refers to the population of outpatient clients who left a program of treatment during the
year, the population size is 1,322;
 in order to assess the level of satisfaction with outpatient treatment services for this population a client
survey was carried out during May and June 2006 at WAADA services in East Perth (including the Youth
Service), Warwick and Fremantle. Information was collected by clients completing a survey. Those who
were attending for an initial assessment only or who were considered by a clinician to be distressed were
excluded from the survey. Some clients declined to be interviewed. Clients who had not completed
treatment at the time of the survey were included in the survey;
 413 surveys were distributed to the services of which 160 were returned, giving a response rate of 39%;
 the population of clients attending during the survey period was 589;
 survey results have a sampling precision of plus or minus 6.61% at the 95% confidence level with a
presumed proportion of incidence in the population of 0.5 using a sample size of 160 and a population of
589.
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1.3

Percentage of WAADA inpatient treatment episodes rated by clinicians as
having improved the general health, psychological health, social
relationships and drug use of clients.

Assessments by clinicians providing services through the WAADA indicate improvements
following treatment.
Table 1.3.1 - Percentage of clients rated as “improved” when leaving an inpatient
treatment program at the WAADA.
Component of
Treatment
General Health
Psychological Health
Social Relationships
Primary Drug Use

Target

2005/06

2004/05

2003/04

2002/03

2001/02

90%
90%
90%
90%

85%
84%
84%
85%

93%
93%
90%
93%

89%
88%
83%
91%

89%
87%
87%
89%

66%
66%
65%
N/A

Notes:
 information is based on ratings of improvement made by clinicians for clients who left a program of
treatment during the year. Information is not available for clients who attended services for assessment
but did not proceed to a treatment program during the year;
 the rating “improved” includes clients who are rated as “improved” and “much improved” by clinicians;
 the population for this indicator is made up of those clients who left a program of treatment during
2005/06 and the population size is 477;
 a formal survey was not conducted requiring questionnaires to be returned and so the concept of a
response rate is not appropriate for this indicator, however it is informative to note that assessments of
improvement were made for 446 clients or 94% of the 477 clients who left a treatment program; the
remaining 6% of clients were not available for a rating to be made when they left treatment or the rating
was not made for other administrative reasons;
 the sample size is 446; and
 survey results have a sampling precision of plus or minus 1.18% at the 95% confidence level with a
presumed proportion of incidence in the population of 0.5 using a population size of 477 and a sample
size of 446.

1.4

Percentage of WAADA inpatient clients who report being satisfied with
treatment services.

Research shows that levels of client satisfaction with drug and alcohol treatment are
related to the levels of treatment success and the extent to which they remain in treatment.
Table 1.4.1 - Percentage of WAADA inpatient clients who report being satisfied with
treatment services.
Target
95%

2005/06
98%

2004/05
95%

2003/04
96%

2002/03
93%

2001/02
80%

Notes:
 this indicator refers to the population of inpatient clients who left a program of treatment during the year,
the population size is 477;
 in order to assess the level of satisfaction with outpatient treatment services a client survey was carried
out by clinical staff throughout 2005/06 at WAADA services in East Perth. Information was collected by
direct interview with clients. Those who were attending for an initial assessment only or who were
considered by a clinician to be distressed were excluded from the survey. Some clients declined to be
interviewed;
 477 clients were treated during the year and a sample of 258 participated in the survey giving a
response rate of 54%; and
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survey results have a sampling precision of plus or minus 4.16% at the 95% confidence level with a
presumed proportion of incidence in the population of 0.5 using a sample size of 258 and a population
size of 477.

1.5

Percentage of clients who remained in treatment until completion of treatment
programs in not-for-profit organisations funded by the WAADA.

Treatment for people with AOD-related problems is significantly enhanced if they remain in
treatment until the program is complete or they leave with the agreement of their clinician.
This measure provides an indication of the extent to which treatment outcomes are likely
to be achieved.
Table 1.5.1 - Percentage of clients remaining in outpatient and inpatient treatment
programs until completion in not-for-profit organisations funded by the WAADA.
Service Type
Inpatient
Outpatient

Target
60%
60%

2005/06
50%
65%

2004/05
51%
62%

2003/04
63%
66%

2002/03
66%
68%

2001/02
66%
64%

Notes:
 information is based on clients who left a service provided by not-for-profit organisations funded by the
WAADA during the year. Some clients may have used more than one service during the year and so
episodes of treatment have been used in the calculation of the above figures;
 the total used in the calculations excludes episodes of treatment where the reason for leaving was not
available (0.05% of 10,928 episodes). Clients were considered not to have completed treatment if they
had left a service for one of the following reasons: Against advice of the service, did not comply with the
conditions of the program, left without notice, died, imprisoned; and
 in 2003/04 two of the larger residential agencies, Bridge House and Palmerston Farm, made changes to
how a “completed” episode was defined. Prior to 2004/05 all people attending Bridge House, including
overnight stays at the sobering up centre, were included as “completed” episodes. This was changed in
2004/05 when only those patients who completed a set program were defined as having completed a
residential program. Episodes at the Bridge House sobering up centre are now recorded separately.
Prior to 2004/05 Palmerston Farm assessments were undertaken at the Farm and were included as
completed episodes. Assessments are now undertaken at the Palmerston Centre (Head Office) and are
recorded with the centres episodes. Both these changes represent an improvement in service delivery
and a more appropriate reflection of actual practice.

1.6

Improvement in the general health, psychological health, social
relationships and drug use of clients of not-for-profit organisations funded
by the WAADA as rated by clients before and after treatment.

Assessments are made by clients before and after treatment in both inpatient and
outpatient services.
Table 1.6.1 - Percentage of clients with positive ratings of each component of treatment “pre” and
“post” treatment for inpatient and outpatient services in-not-for profit organisations.
Component
of
Treatment

General Health
Psychological Health
Social Relationships
Primary Drug Use

Target
(% Change)

30%
30%
20%
30%

2005/2006

2004/2005

“Pre”

“Post”

Change
in %

“Pre”

“Post”

Change
in %

44%
21%
54%
35%

68%
43%
71%
69%

+24
+22
+17
+34

43%
20%
52%
33%

64%
42%
67%
62%

+21
+22
+15
+29
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2003/04

2002/03

“Post”

Change
in %

“Pre”

39%

63%

+24

18%
46%
28%

42%
59%
68%

+24
+13
+40

“Pre”

2001/02

“Post”

Change
in %

“Pre”

“Post”

Change
in %

33%

63%

+30

34%

65%

+31

16%
43%
26%

41%
62%
62%

+25
+19
+36

16%
44%
28%

41%
62%
69%

+25
+18
+41

Notes:
 information is based on self-report ratings made by clients regarding their health, levels of stress (which
is used as an indication of their psychological health), social relationships and the extent of problems
experienced as a result of AOD use. These ratings are made at the beginning of treatment and at or
near completion;
 the questionnaire uses a five point rating scale for each of the conditions listed above, clients who rated
their condition in the two most positive rating categories were rated as “positive” for this indicator;
 the following people are not included in this measure:
 clients who did not complete treatment;
 clients who remained in treatment at the end of the year;
 clients who chose not to fill in a self-report questionnaire;
 people diverted from the court system for an education program regarding cannabis; and
 people who received services to assist with alcohol or drug problems of relatives or friends;
 some clients access more than one episode of treatment during the year and some may contribute to
more than one rating;
 population size: 6,894 programs of treatment were completed during 2005/06;
 survey sample size: the minimum number of assessments for the component of treatment is 868;
 it is not known how many of the original sample of clients who completed a “pre” questionnaire were
invited to complete a “post” questionnaire and a response rate is not available;
 survey results have a sampling precision of plus or minus 3.11% at the 95% confidence level with a
presumed proportion of incidence in the population of 0.5 using a sample size of 868 and a population
size of 6,894; and
 this table combines inpatient and outpatient ratings.

1.7

Percentage of clients of not-for-profit organisations funded by the WAADA
who report being satisfied with inpatient and outpatient treatment services.

Research shows that levels of client satisfaction with AOD treatment are related to the
levels of treatment success and the extent to which they remain in treatment.
Table 1.7.1 Percentage of clients of not-for-profit organisations funded by the WAADA who report
being satisfied with treatment services.
Target
95%

2005/06
93%

2004/05
91%

2003/04
95%

2002/03
91%

2001/02
83%

Notes:
 the notes for Table 1.6.1 also apply to the above table;
 categories of “Very” and “Moderately” satisfied with services were combined for the above ratings
 survey sample size is 853;
 survey results have a sampling precision of plus or minus 3.14% at the 95% confidence level with a
presumed proportion of incidence in the population of 0.5 using a sample size of 853 and a population
size of 6894; and
 this table combines inpatient and outpatient ratings.
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OUTCOME 2
Increased knowledge, competence and confidence of human services professionals
when working with people experiencing AOD problems.
Indicator of Effectiveness
The WAADA provides training to a large range of human services workers and volunteers
to enhance their ability to treat and support people with AOD-related problems. Training is
provided to workers in the WAADA, not-for-profit organisations and additional services
which provide assistance to people with AOD problems.
2.1

Ratings by participants in training events regarding usefulness to
participants’ work, increase in knowledge, competence and confidence to
work with people experiencing AOD problems.

Research shows that increasing knowledge, confidence and competence increases the
probability that a clinician will successfully engage and respond to the needs of people
affected by AOD use.
Table 2.1.1 - Percentage of participants in training with positive ratings of training outcomes.
Training Outcome
Usefulness to participant’s
work or study
Increase in knowledge of
drug and alcohol issues
Increase in level of
confidence in working in this
area
Increase in level of
competence to work with
drug and alcohol issues

Target
80%

2005/06
82%

2004/05
72%

2003/04
78%

2002/03
79%

2001/02
78%

65%

69%

63%

65%

68%

67%

55%

59%

58%

55%

64%

56%

55%

55%

57%

53%

59%

51%

Notes:
 information is based on post training evaluation questionnaires completed by all participants in events
which were evaluated;
 evaluations were conducted for 86 of the 104 training events during the year (83%);
 the questionnaire uses a five point rating scale. The above ratings are based on the number of
participants rating a training outcome in one of the two most positive categories, namely “very satisfied”
or “extremely satisfied”;
 the population size is 1,790 which is the total number of participants in training during the year;
 the sample size varies depending on the training outcome. It was 1,152 for the first two outcomes listed
in the above table and 871 for the last two;
 the response rates for the first two outcomes were 64% and 88% for the last two; and
 survey results have a sampling precision of plus or minus 1.72% for the first two outcomes and 2.38%
for the last two at the 95% confidence level with a presumed proportion of incidence in the population of
0.5 using the above population and sample sizes.
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OUTCOME 3
Prevent or delay the uptake, and reduce the harm, associated with AOD use.
Indicators of Effectiveness
The WAADA conducts campaigns and other activities to achieve this outcome. Indicators
3.1 and 3.2 reflect the impact of preventive initiatives of a range of government
departments. A major strategy to achieve this outcome is media campaigns; their
effectiveness is measured in indicator 3.3. The social acceptability of AOD use influences
the prevalence of use and levels of harmful use.
3.1

Prevalence and risk of harm associated with alcohol use and the prevalence of
illegal drug use in the population aged 14 years and above.

3.2

Prevalence and risk of harm associated with alcohol use among school students
aged 12 to 17 years.

3.3

The success of campaigns to reduce the social acceptability of risky alcohol use
and drug use and increase the awareness of associated harm.

Alcohol is a major cause of disease and injury. The WAADA impacts on alcohol
consumption by preventing or delaying the onset of risky alcohol use and reducing the
harms that may result from risky use. Consuming alcohol at levels of long-term risk relates
to poor health outcomes and short-term risk of injury such as road crash, assault and other
social problems. This indicator uses information from a survey conducted every three
years and provides a view of alcohol and drug use over time. No new data are available
for 2005/06.
Table 3.1.1 - Percentage of people in the population (14 years and over) who have consumed
alcohol in the past 12 months and consumed at levels of long-term and short-term risk.
Prevalence of illegal drug use.

Prevalence of alcohol use
(% who consumed alcohol in
past 12 months)
Long-term risk consumption
Short-term risk consumption
Prevalence of illegal drug
use (% who consumed any
illegal drugs in past 12
months)
Prevalence of illegal drug
use excluding cannabis

Target
90%

2004/05
87%

2001/02
84%

1998/99
86%

1995/96
80%

10%
38%
16%

11%
39%
17%

11%
38%
19%

N/A
N/A
22%

N/A
N/A
N/A

7%

6%

8%

9%

N/A

Notes:
 information is based on the National Drug Strategy Household Survey (NDSHS) which is conducted
every three years and published by the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare;
 there are no new data for 2005/06, the next survey will be conducted in 2007;
 data for 2004/05 which were not previously available are now reported (i.e. prevalence of illegal drug use
excluding cannabis);
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illegal drug use refers to the use of amphetamines, heroin, cocaine, hallucinogens, ecstasy and, where
applicable, cannabis;
short-term risky alcohol consumption: that men do not exceed six standard drinks and women do not
exceed four standard drinks on any single day of drinking;
long-term risky alcohol consumption: that men do not exceed four standard drinks on an average day (or
28 standard drinks per week) and women do not exceed two standard drinks on an average day (or 14
standard drinks per week); and
short-term and long-term risky alcohol consumption include “risky” and “high risk” levels.

3.2

Prevalence and risk of harm associated with alcohol use among school
students aged 12 to 17 years.

Preventing or delaying the onset of risky alcohol consumption among school students
reduces the impact of short-term risk and contributes to the prevention of long-term health
related-harm. This indicator uses information from a survey conducted every three years
and provides a view of alcohol use over time. No new information is available for 2005/06.
Table 3.2.1 - Percentage of school students who have consumed alcohol in the past 12 months
and consumed at levels of short-term risk.

Prevalence
(% who consumed alcohol in
past 12 months)
Short-term risk consumption

2002/03
73%

1999/00
74%

1996/97
74%

1993/94
71%

1990/91
71%

8%

9%

8%

5%

6%

Notes:
 information is based on the Australian School Students Alcohol and Drugs (ASSAD) survey which is
conducted every three years. The results of the survey conducted in 2005 are not yet available and will
be reported next year;
 short-term risky alcohol consumption: that men do not exceed 6 standard drinks and women do not
exceed 4 standard drinks on any single day of drinking; and
 short-term and long-term risky alcohol consumption include “risky” and “high risk” levels.

3.3

The success of campaigns to reduce the social acceptability of risky AOD
use and increase the awareness of associated harm.

Table 3.3.1 Percentage of persons in campaign target groups who were aware of the campaign and
were able to recall the main campaign messages.
Campaign
Alcohol
Host **
Standard
Drinks**
Enough is
Enough
campaign

Drugs
DA
Amphetamine
Education
Strategy
Youth Drug
Driving***
DA Cannabis

Target

2005/06

2004/05

2003/04

2002/03

2001/02

Aware

Correct

Aware

Correct

Aware

Correct

Aware

Correct

Aware

Correct

Aware

Correct

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

38%

20%

46%
-

46%
-

35%

17%

-

-

34%

28%

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

52%

42%

-

-

35%

-

38%

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

59%

-

-

--

-

-

-

29%

7%

-

-

-

-

63

Notes:
 presentation of this table has been changed from previous years to improve clarity;
 ** these campaigns are no longer conducted or evaluated;
 all targets are subject to the campaigns being conducted;
 evaluation resources are allocated to different campaigns annually as required, only the Youth Drug
Driving campaign was evaluated in 2005/06;
 DA refers to the Drug Aware Program;
 *** this is a new figure which only measures awareness, not correct message takeout; evaluation for this
project was conducted by the Office of Road Safety;

“Awareness” refers to the percentage of the target population for the campaign who report being aware
(when prompted) of the campaign elements during the post campaign evaluation;

if more than one medium was used in a campaign (eg. TV and radio), “awareness” refers to the overall
awareness from any medium, where reported. If overall awareness has not been reported then the
medium having the greatest awareness (eg. radio) has been used;

“Correct” refers to the proportion of the target population who correctly recalled at least one of the main
campaign messages during the post-campaign evaluation;

if more than one medium was used in a campaign, “correct” has been reported for the same medium as
“awareness” (ie. overall where reported, or the medium having the greatest awareness);

“Correct” is usually reported in campaign reports as a percentage of those “aware”. These have been
recalculated and expressed as a percentage of the total sample;

Campaign details:
 Host: encouragement of hosts to take responsibility when they serve alcohol in social or licensed
settings - target group 18-34 years;
 Standard Drinks: information about safe levels of alcohol consumption: target group 18-44 year olds;
 Enough is Enough: Social Marketing Program aimed at raising awareness about public
drunkenness, its related problems and what the community can do about the issue;
 Youth Drug Driving Campaign: increased awareness of the effects of drugs on driving - target group
17-25;
 Cannabis: increased the awareness of the changes to the cannabis legislation – target group 18-60
years; and

post-campaign evaluations are not necessarily conducted with the whole target group, but a subset of
this group. For example, the target group for the Cannabis Campaign was 18 years and over, however
the evaluation involved only 16-24 year olds. Where this has occurred, the results are taken to be
representative of the whole target group; and

in this table, cells where information is not available are designated by a “dash”.
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INDICATORS OF EFFICIENCY
SERVICE GROUP 1
Treatment Services
Indicators of Efficiency
1.1

Cost of treating outpatient clients in WAADA services.

1.2

Cost of treating inpatient clients in WAADA services.

1.3

Cost of treating outpatient clients in not-for-profit organisations funded by the
WAADA.

1.4

Cost of treating inpatient clients in not-for-profit organisations funded by the
WAADA.

1.1

Cost of treating outpatient clients in WAADA services.

This indicator represents the total cost of providing services to outpatients who receive a
program of treatment at services provided by the WAADA services in East Perth, including
the Youth Service, Warwick and at Fremantle. This indicator measures efficiency through
the cost per client treated and cost effectiveness through the cost per completed treatment
program.
Table 1.1.1 - Cost per outpatient client treated in WAADA services.

Cost per client treated
Cost per completed treatment
program







1.2

Target
$1,646
$8,927

2005/06 2004/05 2003/04 2002/03 2001/02
$1,780
$1,598
$1,510
$2,483
$1,253
$9,767
$8,667
$5,598
$6,898
N/A

Notes:
this is the first year that targets have been set for this indicator of efficiency;
the cost per client completing treatment is based on the number of clients who left treatment at
completion or for other reasons positively related to treatment, for instance to continue treatment in
another service;
the costs for 2002/03 to 2005/06 include support to treatment providers in the community that was
accounted for elsewhere in previous years;
cost per completed treatment program is based on 822 episodes of treatment; and
the costs in this indicator are influenced by the number of clients presenting for treatment and the
proportion who complete treatment which varies over time. In 2005/06 the number of clients treated was
4,510 compared to 4,875 in 2004/05 and 4,761 in 2003/04. The number of clients completing treatment
in 2005/06 was 822 compared to 899 in 2004/05 and 974 in 2003/04.

Cost of treating inpatient clients in WAADA services.

This indicator represents the cost of providing services to inpatients at the WAADA drug
withdrawal service in East Perth. This indicator measures efficiency through the cost per
client treated and cost per occupied bed day and cost effectiveness through the cost per
client who completed treatment.
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Table 1.2.1 - Cost per client treated in WAADA inpatient services.
Cost per client treated
Cost per completed treatment
program
Cost per occupied bed day

Target 2005/06 2004/05 2003/04 2002/03 2001/02
$5,783 $5,902
$5,615
$4,792
$5,049
N/A
$6,883 $7,826
$6,683
$5,947
$6,658
N/A
$808

$905

$784

$716

$940

$676

Notes:
 this is the first year that targets have been set for this indicator of efficiency.
 the cost per client completing treatment is based on the number of clients who left treatment at
completion or for other reasons positively related to treatment, for instance to continue treatment in
another service;
 the costs for 2002/03 to 2005/06 include support to treatment providers in the community that was
accounted for elsewhere in previous years;
 the cost per completed treatment program is based on 365 episodes of treatment; and
 the costs in this indicator are influenced by the number of clients presenting for treatment and the
proportion who complete treatment which varies over time. In 2005/06 the number of clients treated was
484 compared to 469 in 2004/05 and 484 in 2003/04. The number of clients completing treatment was
365 in 2005/06, 394 in 2004/05 and 390 in 2003/04. The number of occupied bed days in 2005/06 was
3,156 compared with 3,359 in 2004/05 and 3,283 in 2003/04.

1.3

Cost of treating outpatient clients in not-for-profit organisations funded by
the WAADA.

This indicator represents the cost of providing services to outpatients who receive a
program of treatment at services provided by not-for-profit organisations funded by the
WAADA. This indicator measures efficiency through the cost per client treated and cost
effectiveness through the cost per client who completed treatment.
Table 1.3.1 - Cost per outpatient client in not-for-profit organisations funded by the WAADA.
Cost per client treated
Cost per completed treatment
program

Target 2005/06 2004/05 2003/04 2002/03 2001/02
$941
$871
$914
$1,547
$1,088
N/A
$1,530 $1,348
$1,485
$2,340
$1,597
N/A

Notes:
• this is the first year that targets have been set for this indicator of efficiency;
 the cost per client completing treatment for 2002/03, 2003/04 2004/05 and 2005/06 is based on the
number of clients who left treatment at completion or for other reasons positively related to treatment, for
instance to continue treatment in another service;
 the cost per completed treatment program is based on 6,334 episodes of treatment; and
 the costs in this indicator are influenced by the number of clients presenting for treatment and the
proportion who complete treatment which varies over time. In 2005/06, 9,808 patients were treated
compared to 8,931 in 2004/05 and 12,280 in 2003/04. The number of patients completing treatment in
2005/06 was 6,334 compared to 5,490 in 2004/05 and 6,972 in 2003/04.

67

1.4

Cost of treating inpatient clients in not-for-profit organisations funded by the
WAADA.

Table 1.4 1 - Cost per inpatient client treated in not-for-profit organisations funded by the
WAADA.
Cost per client treated
Cost per completed
treatment program
Cost per occupied bed day in
treatment services
Cost per occupied bed day in
sobering up centres

Target
$5, 705
$11,209

2005/06
$6,446
$13,478

2004/05
$5,539
$10,883

2003/04
$5,245
$8,274

2002/03
$3,349
$5,078

2001/02
N/A
N/A

$116

$158

$113

$142

$116

N/A

$196

$173

$190

$148

$165

$122

Notes:
• this is the first year that targets have been set for this indicator of efficiency;
 the cost per client who completed treatment is based on the number of clients who left treatment at
completion or for other reasons positively related to treatment, for instance to continue treatment in
another service;
 this indicator measures efficiency through the cost per client treated and occupied bed days and cost
effectiveness through the cost per client who completed treatment; and
 the costs in this indicator are influenced by the number of clients presenting for treatment and the
proportion who complete treatment which varies over time. In 2005/06 the number of clients treated was
1,173 compared to 1,006 in 2004/05 and 1,546 in 2003/04.The number of clients completing treatment in
2005/06 was 561 compared to 512 in 2004/05 and 971 in 2003/04. The number of occupied bed days in
2005/06 was 47,939 compared to 49,464 in 2004/05 and 43,235 in 2003/04. The number of bed days in
sobering up centres (SUCs) in 2005/06 was 20,757 compared to 17,810 in 2004/05 and 21,424 in
2003/04.
 In 2003/04 two of the larger residential agencies, Bridge House and Palmerston Farm made changes to
how a “completed” episode was defined. Prior to 2004/05 all people attending Bridge House, including
overnight stays at the SUC, were included as “completed” episodes. This was changed in 2004/05 when
only those patients who completed a set program were defined as having completed a residential
program. Episodes at the Bridge House SUC are now recorded separately. Prior to 2004/05 Palmerston
Farm assessments were undertaken at the Farm and were included as completed episodes.
Assessments are now undertaken at the Palmerston Centre (Head Office) and are recorded with the
Centres episodes. Both these changes represent an improvement in service delivery and a more
appropriate reflection of actual practice however have an effect on the cost per episode.

SERVICE GROUP 2
Practice Development
Efficiency Indicator
2.1

Cost per participant hour of training.

The main activity of the Practice Development Branch is to train staff in services which
treat people with drug and alcohol problems.
Table 2.1.1 - Cost per participant hour of training provide by the WAADA.

Cost per participant hour
of training

Target
$130

2005/06
$197

2004/05
$126

2003/04
$196

2002/03
$142

2001/02
$100
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Notes:
 this indicator measures efficiency through the cost of providing training to one participant for one hour;
 costs not directly involved in training are in this indicator;
 the total expenditure is divided by the participant hours (13,866) to calculate the cost per participant
hour;
 the cost per hour is affected by the proportion of training events that are intensive in nature and therefore
need additional input in the development of the course itself and the accompanying resources. These
intensive programs, which incur increased costs, achieve improved long term training outcomes. The
proportion of new programs introduced will vary from year to year.

SERVICE GROUP 3
Prevention
Indicators of Efficiency
The Prevention Branch purchases and manages campaigns aimed at preventing or
delaying the onset of risky alcohol use and illegal drug use.
3.1

Cost per capita of the Western Australian population 14 years and above for
initiatives that delay the uptake, and reduce the harm, associated with alcohol and
other drugs.

3.2

Cost per person of campaign target groups who are aware of, and correctly recall,
the main campaign messages.

This indicator includes the staff salaries and corporate overheads but is not available for
years before 2002/03. However, direct costs are available for this year and previous years
for comparison.
Table 3.1.1 - Cost per capita of prevention initiatives.

Direct costs
Total costs

Target
$1.90

2005/06
$1.92

2004/05
$1.68

2003/04
$1.47

2002/03
$2.14
$2.88

2001/02
$1.52
N/A

Notes:
 the cost per capita is based on estimates of the Western Australian population aged 14 years and over
which are obtained from the Rate Calculator V9.1.4 of the Department of Health;
 the total costs for 2002/03, 2003/04, 2004/05 and 2005/06 include corporate overheads and staff
salaries which are not available for previous years;
 the costs in this indicator are influenced by the number of campaigns conducted each year, there were
two in 2002/03, one in 2003/04 and one in 2004/05 and one in 2005/06; and
 the per capita cost based on total costs is the preferred method of reporting on this indicator, information
based on direct costs provided prior to 2003/04 years is longer reported.
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3.2 Cost per person of campaign target groups who are aware of, and correctly
recall, the main campaign messages.
Table 3.2.1 - Cost per person in target group for prevention campaigns.
Campaign

Target
Aware

2005/06

Correct

Aware

2004/05

Correct

Aware

2003/04

Correct

Aware

2002/03

Correct

Aware

2001/02

Correct

Aware

Correct

Alcohol

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Host **

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

--

-

-

$0.82

$0.83

Standard
Drinks**
Enough is
Enough
Drugs

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

$0.57

$1.08

-

-

-

$0.13

$0.16

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

$0.73

$0.91

-

-

$0.50

-

$0.18

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

$0.49

-

-

-

$0.13

$0.54

-

-

-

-

DA
Amphetamine
Education
Strategy
Youth Drug
Driving
DA Cannabis

-

-

Notes:
 presentation of this table has been changed from previous years to improve clarity;
 this cost is also included in Indicator 3.1;
 ** these campaigns are no longer conducted;
 “Awareness” refers to the cost per capita of the target population for the campaign who reported being
aware of the campaign during the post-campaign evaluation: “Correct” refers to the cost per capita of the
target population who correctly recalled the main campaign messages during the post-campaign
evaluation;
 all targets are subject to the campaigns being conducted;
 DA refers to the Drug Aware Program;
 Youth Drug Driving received an extra 50% of free advertising on the base budget;
 Campaign details:
 Host: encouragement of hosts to take act responsibility when they serve alcohol in social or
commercial settings - target group 18-34 years;
 Standard Drinks: information about safe levels of alcohol consumption - target group 18-44 year
olds;
 Enough is Enough: Social Marketing Program aimed at raising awareness about public
drunkenness, its related problems and what the community can do about the issue;
 Psychostimulants: information about the harmful effects of psychostimulant drugs – target group 1424 year olds (2000) and 12-24 year olds (2002);
 Youth Drug Driving Campaign: increased awareness of the effects of drugs on driving - target group
17-25 year olds; and
 Cannabis: increased awareness of the effects of cannabis - target group 18 years and over;
 in this table, cells where information is not available are designated by a “dash”.
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SECTION 42 SUBMISSION
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Statement of Financial Performance
For the year ended 30th June 2006

Cost of Services
Employee expenses
Other goods and services
Total expenses from ordinary activities

Revenues from ordinary activities
Net cost of services

ESTIMATES
2006/07
$'000

ESTIMATES
2005/06
$'000

15,787
24,852
40,639

15,116
21,268
36,384

1,286

20

39,353

36,364
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Certification of Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2006
___________________________________________________________________

The accompanying financial statements of the Western Australian Alcohol and Drug
Authority have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial
Administration and Audit Act 1985 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the
financial transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 2006 and the financial
position as at 30 June 2006.
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Mike Daube
Chairperson/Member of the Board
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL
AND DRUG AUTHORITY

Professor Steve Allsop
Member of the Board
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL
AND DRUG AUTHORITY

Date:

Date: 29 August 2006

29 August 2006

Clete Mathews
Director, Finance and Corporate Services
Drug and Alcohol Office
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL
AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Date: 29 August 2006
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Income Statement
For the year ended 30th June 2006
Note
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expenses
Patient support costs
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Capital user charge
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Other expenses
Total cost of services
INCOME
Revenue
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Other grants and contributions
Other revenues

13,386,423
19,141,978
226,029
402,000
40,069
4,801,148
37,997,647

12,541,163
16,184,159
247,167
313,000
25,859
4,346,113
33,657,461

13a
13b
14

0
77,972
1,444,500

100,000
0
1,270,756

1,522,472

1,370,756

36,475,175

32,286,705

36,009,305
6,556
36,015,861

32,449,843
70,660
32,520,503

(459,314)

233,798

NET COST OF SERVICES

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

2005
$

7
8
9
11
10
12

Total revenue

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer
Total income from State Government

2006
$

15
16

The Statement of Financial performance should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Balance Sheet
As at 30th June 2006

Note
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Inventories
Other assets
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total Non-Current Assets

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities

82,768
506,251
0
27,711
64,292
681,022

4,227
236,017
350,000
23,313
71,407
684,964

19
22
24

1,506,769
12,653,255
3,763
14,163,787

936,634
7,807,375
4,295
8,748,304

14,844,809

9,433,268

25
26
27

550,612
1,934,360
142,773
2,627,745

96,230
1,863,280
0
1,959,510

26

710,104
710,104

635,383
635,383

3,337,849

2,594,893

11,506,960

6,838,375

4,503,939
8,451,368
(1,448,347)

4,401,939
3,425,470
(989,034)

11,506,960

6,838,375

Total Liabilities
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated surplus/(deficiency)
Total Equity

2005
$

17
18
19
20
21

Total Assets
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

2006
$

28
29
30

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30th June 2006

Note

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations

31(c)

2006
$
Inflows
(Outflows)

2005
$
Inflows
(Outflows)

35,489,170

31,673,015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Supplies and services
Employee benefits
GST payments on purchases

(23,760,137)
(13,063,070)
(2,247,528)

(20,519,410)
(12,448,093)
(1,915,526)

Receipts
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Other grants and subsidies
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts
Net cash (used in) / provided by operating activities

53,222
24,750
88,674
2,158,489
1,420,519
(35,325,081)

107,820
0
68,975
1,760,660
1,270,606
(31,674,968)

(88,787)
3,239
(85,548)

(106,277)
1,255
(105,022)

78,541

(106,975)

4,227

111,202

82,768

4,227

Utilised as follows:

31(b)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for purchase of non-current physical assets 22
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets
10
Net cash (used in) / provided by investing activities
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF
PERIOD

31(a)

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Statement of Changes in Equity
As at 30th June 2006

Note

2006
$

2005
$

42

6,838,375

4,835,773

28

4,401,939
102,000
0
4,503,939

2,633,137
138,000
1,630,802
4,401,939

RESERVES
Asset Revaluation Reserve
Balance at start of period
Gains/(losses) from asset revaluation
Balance at end of period

29

3,425,470
5,025,898
8,451,368

3,425,470
0
3,425,470

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
Balance at start of period
Net adjustment on transition to AIFRS
Restated balance at start of period

30
42

(989,034)
0
(989,034)

(1,245,502)
22,670
(1,222,832)

Surplus/(deficit) for the period
Gains/(losses) recognised directly in equity
Balance at end of period

(459,314)
0
(1,448,348)

233,798
0
(989,034)

Balance of equity at end of period

11,506,960

6,838,375

(459,314)

233,798

Balance of equity at start of period
CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
Balance at start of period
Capital contribution
Other contributions by owners
Balance at end of period

Total income and expense for the period

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2006

Note 1 First time adoption of Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards
General
These are the Authority’s first published financial statements prepared under Australian equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).
Accounting Standard AASB 1 ‘First time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Standards’ has been applied in preparing these financial statements. Until 30 June 2005, the financial
statements of the Authority had been prepared under the previous Australian Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (AGAAP).
The Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) adopted the Standards of the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) for application to reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005 by issuing
AIFRS which comprise a Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, Australian
Accounting Standards and the Urgent Issues Group (UIG) Interpretations.
In accordance with the option provided by AASB 1 paragraph 36A and exercised by Treasurer’s Instruction
1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and other Pronouncements’, financial instrument
information prepared under AASB 132 and AASB 139 will apply from 1 July 2005 and consequently
comparative information for financial instruments is presented on the previous AGAAP basis. All other
comparative information has been prepared under the AIFRS basis.
Early adoption of standards
The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or UIG Interpretation unless specifically
permitted by TI 1101 'Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements'. This TI
requires the early adoption of revised AASB 119 'Employee Benefits' as issued in December 2004, AASB
2004-3 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards; AASB 2005-3 'Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards [AASB 119]', AASB 2005-4 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB
139, AASB 132, AASB 1, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]' and AASB 2005-6 'Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards [AASB 3]' to the annual reporting period beginning 1 July 2005. AASB 2005-4 amends
AASB 139 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement' so that the ability to designate financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value is restricted. AASB 2005-6 excludes business combinations
involving common control from the scope of AASB 3 'Business Combinations'.
Reconciliations explaining the transition to AIFRS as at 1 July 2004 and 30 June 2005 are provided at note 42
‘Reconciliations explaining the transition to AIFRS’.
Note 2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(a)

General Statement

The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance
with Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board as applied by the Treasurer's Instructions.
Several of these are modified by the Treasurer's Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and
wording.
The Financial Administration and Audit Act and the Treasurer's Instructions are legislative provisions governing
the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over the Accounting Standards, the Framework,
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2006

Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results,
details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.
(b) Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost
convention, modified by the revaluation of land and buildings which have been measured at fair value.
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000).
The judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Authority's accounting policies that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are disclosed at note 3
‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’.
The key assumptions made concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed at note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’.
(c) Contributed Equity
UIG interpretation 1038 "Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities" requires
transfers in the nature of equity contributions to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions
by owners (at the time of or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions.
Capital contributions (appropriations) have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955
‘Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’ and have been credited directly to
Contributed Equity.
Transfer of net assets to/from other agencies are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers
are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. See note 28 ‘Equity’.
(d) Income
Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised as
follows:
Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership control transfer to the purchaser.
Rendering of services
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client.
Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.
Service Appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at nominal value in the period in which the Authority gains
control of the appropriated funds. The Authority gains control of the appropriated funds at the time those funds
are deposited to the bank account or credited to the holding account held at the Department of Treasury and
Finance. See also note 20 'Service Appropriations'.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2006

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Authority obtains control over the assets comprising the
contributions, usually when cash is received.
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value.
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services
would be purchased if not donated.
Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obtained on the condition that
they be expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period, and those conditions were
undischarged as at the reporting date, the nature of, and amounts pertaining to, those undischarged conditions
are disclosed in the notes.
Gains
Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on
the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.
(e) Property, Plant and Equipment
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment costing above $1,000 are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising
assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less
than $1,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Income Statement (other than where they form part of a
group of similar items which are significant in total).
Initial recognition and measurement
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.
For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at
the date of acquisition.
Subsequent measurement
After recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and buildings, and the
cost model for all other property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings are carried at fair value less
accumulated depreciation on buildings and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant
and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Where market evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current
market buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions.
Where market evidence is not available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of
existing use. This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value
for existing use assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost.
When buildings are revalued, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of
the asset and the amount restated to the revalued amount.
The revaluation of land and buildings is provided independently on an annual basis by the Department of Land
Information (Valuation Services).
The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing
use basis to assets. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a
clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets
Refer to note 22 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ for further information on revaluations.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2006

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful
lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the reducing balance method, using
rates which are reviewed annually. Expected useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer equipment
Furniture and fittings
Medical equipment
Other plant and equipment

30 years
Term of the lease
3 years
7 to 26 years
4 to 25 years
3 to 30 years

Works of art controlled by the Authority are classified as property, plant and equipment which are anticipated to
have very long and indefinite useful lives. Their service potential has not, in any material sense, been
consumed during the reporting period and so no depreciation has been recognised.
(f) Intangible Assets
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing over $1,000 and internally generated intangible assets costing over
$1,000 are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs
incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Income Statement.
All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at
no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for impairment annually when the asset is not yet in use, or
more frequently when an indicator of impairment arises during the reporting period indicating that the carrying
value may not be recoverable.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit
(estimated useful life) on the reducing balance basis using rates which are reviewed annually. All intangible
assets controlled by the Authority have a finite useful life and zero residual value. The expected useful lives for
each class of intangible asset are:
Computer Software

5 years

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment. Software
that is not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset.
(g) Impairment of Assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at each
reporting date. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to
the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the Authority is a not-for-profit entity, unless
an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2006

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially
understated or where the replacement cost is falling. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to
verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s
future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at each reporting date irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair
value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market evidence.
Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of
impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of
impairments at each reporting date.
Refer note 23 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.
Refer also to note 2(o) 'Receivables' and note 18 for impairment of receivables.
(h) Non-current Assets Classified as Held for Sale
Non-current assets held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell
and are presented separately from other assets in the Balance Sheet. Assets classified as held for sale are
not depreciated or amortised.
(i) Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the Authority has substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership, are classified as finance leases.
Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease term, as assets
and liabilities equal in amount to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, the present value of the minimum
lease payments, determined at the inception of the lease. The assets are disclosed as leased assets, and are
depreciated over the period during which the Authority is expected to benefit from their use. Minimum lease
payments are allocated between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding lease liability,
according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.
Leases in which the lessor retains significantly all of the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
operating leases. Operating lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this
represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased items.
(j) Financial Instruments
The Authority has two categories of financial instruments:
- Loans and receivables (cash and cash equivalents, receivables); and
- Non trading financial liabilities (finance leases, payables).
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the
transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transition cost or the face value because there is
no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not
material.
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2006

(k) Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents (and restricted cash and cash
equivalents) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or
less, that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of
changes in value.
(l) Accrued Salaries
Accrued salaries (refer to note 39) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year,
as the pay date for the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial
year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Authority considers the
carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to the net fair value.
(m) Amounts Receivable for Services (Holding Account)
The Authority receives funding on an accrual basis that recognises the full annual cash and non-cash cost of
services. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (Holding Account receivable) that is
accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover items such as leave entitlements and
asset replacement.
See also note 15 'Service appropriations' and note 19 'Amounts receivable for services'.
(n) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned on a weighted
average cost basis.
Inventories not held for resale are valued at cost unless they are no longer required in which case they are
valued at net realisable value.
(o) Receivables
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for uncollectible amounts
(i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables
identified as uncollectible are written off. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised
when there is objective evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect the debts.
The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days from the date of
recognition. See note 2(j) 'Financial instruments' and note 18 'Receivables'.
(p) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Authority becomes obliged to make future
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as
they are generally settled within 30 days. See note 2(j) 'Financial instruments' and note 25 'Payables'.
(q) Borrowings
All loans are initially recognised at cost being the fair value of the net proceeds received. Subsequent
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. See note 2(j) 'Financial
instruments'.
(r) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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(s) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount, and are recognised where there is a present legal,
equitable or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of economic benefits is
probable and can be measured reliably. Provisions are reviewed at each balance date. See note 26
'Provisions'.
Provisions - Employee Benefits
Annual Leave and Long Service Leave
The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the
reporting date is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. Annual and long service leave expected to be settled more than 12 months after the end
of the reporting date is measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled. Leave liabilities are in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels
including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions. In addition, the long service
leave liability also considers the experience of employee departures and periods of service.
The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government
bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the
Authority does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
reporting date.
Sick Leave
Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is probable that sick leave paid in the future will be greater than
the entitlement that will accrue in the future.
Past history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement
accrued. This is expected to continue in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated
entitlements will be used by employees and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As
sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the Income Statement for this leave as it is taken.
Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers the following superannuation
schemes.
Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now closed to new
members or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme also closed to
new members.
The Authority has no liabilities under the Pension or the GSS Schemes. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension
Scheme and the unfunded GSS Scheme transfer benefits due to members who transferred from the Pension
Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS Scheme obligations are funded by concurrent
contributions made by the Authority to the GESB. The concurrently funded part of the GSS Scheme is a
defined contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish all liabilities in respect of the concurrently funded
GSS Scheme obligations.
Employees who are not members of either the Pension or the GSS Schemes become non-contributory
members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), an accumulation scheme. The Authority makes
concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. The WSS Scheme is a defined
contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish all liabilities in respect of the WSS Scheme.
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The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and GSS Schemes, and is recouped by the
Treasurer for the employer's share.
See also note 2(t) ‘Superannuation expense’.
Deferred Salary Scheme
With the written agreement of the Authority, an employee may elect to receive, over a four-year period, 80% of
the salary they would otherwise be entitled to receive. On completion of the fourth year, an employee will be
entitled to 12 months leave and will receive an amount equal to 80% of the salary they were otherwise entitled
to in the fourth year of deferment. An employee may withdraw from this scheme prior to completing a four-year
period by written notice. The employee will receive a lump sum payment of salary forgone to that time.
The liability for deferred salary scheme represents the amount which the Authority is obliged to pay to the
employees participating in the deferred salary scheme. The liability has been calculated on current
remuneration rates in respect of services provided by the employees up to the reporting date and includes
related on-costs.
Gratuities
The Authority is obliged to pay the medical practitioners and nurses for gratuities under Medical Practitioners
(WA Country Authority – North West) AMA Industrial Agreement and the Nurses (WA Government Authority)
Agreement 2001. These groups of employees are entitled to a gratuity payment for each completed year of
continuous service in specified regions in Western Australia.
The liability for gratuity payments is measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future
salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are
discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and
currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash flows.
Provisions – Other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.
Employment on-costs are included as part of 'Other expenses' and are not included as part of the Authority's
'Employee benefits expense'. Any related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs provision'. See note 12
'Other expenses'.
(t) Superannuation Expense
The following elements are included in calculating the superannuation expense in the Income Statement.
(a) Defined benefit plans - Change in the unfunded employer’s liability (i.e. current service cost and, actuarial
gains and losses) assumed by the Treasurer in respect of current employees who are members of the Pension
Scheme and current employees who accrued a benefit on transfer from that Scheme to the Gold State
Superannuation Scheme (GSS); and
(b) Defined contribution plans - Employer contributions paid to the GSS and the West State Superannuation
Scheme (WSS).
Defined benefit plans - in order to reflect the true cost of services, the movements (i.e. current service cost and,
actuarial gains and losses) in the liabilities in respect of the Pension Scheme and the GSS transfer benefits are
recognised as expenses. As these liabilities are assumed by the Treasurer (refer note 2(s)), a revenue titled
‘Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer’ equivalent to the expense is recognised under Income from State
Government in the Income Statement. See note 16 'Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer'.
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(u) Resources Received Free of Charge or for Nominal Cost
Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as
revenues and as assets or expenses as appropriate, at fair value.
(v) Foreign Currency Translation
Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated at the rates in existence at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign currency receivables and payables at reporting date are translated at exchange rates
current at reporting date. Exchange gains and losses are brought to account in determining the result for the
year.
(w) Comparative Figures
Comparative figures have been restated on the AIFRS basis except for financial instruments which have been
prepared under the previous AGAAP Australian Accounting Standard AAS 33 'Presentation and Disclosure of
Financial Instruments'. The transition date to AIFRS for financial instruments is 1 July 2005 in accordance with
AASB 1, paragraph 36A and Treasurer’s Instruction 1101.
Note 3 Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies
Judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The judgements that have been made in the process of applying accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements include:
Buildings
A number of buildings that are located on the land of local government agencies have been recognised in the
financial statements. The Authority believes that, based on past experience, its occupancy in these buildings
will continue to the end of their useful life.
Note 4 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key estimates and assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include:
Buildings:
In order to estimate fair value on the basis of existing use, the depreciated replacement costs are determined
on the assumption that the buildings will be used for the same functions in the future. A major change in
utilisation of the buildings may result in material adjustment to the carrying amounts.
Employee benefits provision
A staff retention factor representing the experience of employee departures and periods of service is used to
estimate the non-current long service leave liabilities. This is an average of probabilities that current
employees will remain employed until completion of their partially completed LSL cycles (being either 7 years
or 10 years). This does not make a distinction between employees have differing terms to full entitlement. The
same average probability is equally applied to an employee who is very close to attaining full entitlement as it is
to a new employee. The actuarial assessment of the staff retention factor was undertaken in July 2003 and it
will be due for re-assessment by the next reporting date.
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Note 5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or UIG Interpretation unless specifically
permitted by TI 1101 'Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements'. As referred
to in Note 1, TI 1101 has only mandated the early adoption of revised AASB 119, AASB 2004-3, AASB 2005-3,
AASB 2005-4 and AASB 2005-6. Consequently, the Authority has not applied the following Australian
Accounting Standards and UIG Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective. These will be
applied from their application date:
1) AASB 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures' (including consequential amendments in AASB 2005-10
'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 132, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133,
AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]'). This Standard requires new disclosures in relation
to financial instruments. The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2007. The Standard is considered to result in increased disclosures of an entity's risks,
enhanced disclosure about components of a financial position and performance, and changes to the way of
presenting financial statements, but otherwise there is no financial impact.
2) AASB 2005-9 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 4, AASB 1023, AASB 139 & AASB
132]' (Financial guarantee contracts). The amendment deals with the treatment of financial guarantee
contracts, credit insurance contracts, letters of credit or credit derivative default contracts as either an
"insurance contract' under AASB 4 'Insurance Contracts' or as a "financial guarantee contract' under AASB 139
'Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'. The Authority does not undertake these types of
transactions resulting in no financial impact when the Standard is first applied. The Standard is required to be
applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006.
3) UIG Interpretation 4 'Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease'. This Interpretation deals with
arrangements that comprise a transaction or a series of linked transactions that may not involve a legal form of
a lease but by their nature are deemed to be leases for the purposes of applying AASB 117 'Leases". At
reporting date, the Authority has not entered into any arrangements as specified in the Interpretation resulting
in no impact when the Interpretation is first applied. The Interpretation is required to be applied to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006.
The following amendments are not applicable to the Authority as they will have no impact:
AASB
Amendment
2005-1
2005-5
2006-1
UIG 5
UIG 6
UIG 7

Affected
Standards
AASB 139 (Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup transactions).
'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB1 & AASB 139]’.
AASB 121 (Net investment in foreign operations).
'Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds'.
‘Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market- Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment'.
'Applying the Restatement Approach under AASB 129 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies'.

Note 6 Services of the Authority
Information about the Authority's services and, the expenses and revenues which are reliably attributable to
those services are set out in Note 41. The two key services of the Authority are:
Prevention and Promotion
Prevention and promotion services aim to improve the health of Western Australians by reducing the incidence
of preventable disease, injury, disability and premature death. This output primarily focuses on the health and
well being of populations, rather than on individuals. The programs define populations that are at-risk and
ensure that appropriate interventions are delivered to a large proportion of these at-risk populations.
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Diagnosis and Treatment
The objective for the diagnosis and treatment services is to improve the health of Western Australians by
restoring the health of people with acute illness (or other health conditions such as pregnancy). The services
provided to diagnose and treat patients include emergency services; ambulatory care or outpatient services
and services for those people who are admitted to hospitals.
Note 7 Employee benefits expense

Salaries and wages (a)
Superannuation – defined contribution plans (b)
Annual leave (c)
Long service leave (c)

2006
$

2005
$

10,767,699
1,125,810
1,085,763
407,151
13,386,423

10,097,293
1,146,940
1,026,746
270,184
12,541,163

79,962
24,871
102,750
52,557
1,171
18,880,667
19,141,978

83,004
20,512
99,953
56,277
951
15,923,462
16,184,159

104,442
78,021
10,714
1,974
30,346
225,497

99,872
99,034
13,589
2,148
32,524
247,167

532

0

226,029

247,167

14,224
13,272
3,319
12,493
43,308

0
16,252
0
10,862
27,114

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employees.
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State
(contributions paid).
(c) Includes a superannuation contribution component.
Employment on-costs expense is included at note 12 'Other expenses'.
The employment on-costs liability is included at note 26 'Provisions'.
Note 8 Patient support costs
Medical supplies and services
Domestic charges
Fuel, light and power
Food supplies
Patient transport costs
Purchase of external services
Note 9 Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation
Buildings
Computer equipment
Furniture and fittings
Medical equipment
Other plant and equipment
Amortisation
Intangible assets
Total depreciation and amortisation
Note 10 Net gain / (loss) on disposal of non-current assets
Cost of disposal of non-current assets
Land and buildings
Computer equipment
Furniture and fittings
Other plant and equipment
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Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets:
Computer equipment
Medical equipment

Net gain/(loss)

2006
$

2005
$

0
3,239
3,239

1,255
0
1,255

(40,069)

(25,859)

402,000

313,000

172,179
11,796
2,347,080
68,686
1,232
61,035
61,843
317,076
230,076
360,099
1,170,046
4,801,148

164,095
25,214
2,347,795
92,198
0
54,334
59,194
280,506
187,173
334,355
801,249
4,346,113

0
0

100,000
100,000

53,222
24,750
77,972

0
0
0

See note 2(h) ‘Non-current assets held for sale’, and note 22
‘Property, plant and Equipment’.
Note 11 Capital user charge
The Government applies a levy for the use of its capital for the
delivery of services. It is applied at 8% per annum on the net assets
of the Authority, excluding exempt assets. Payments are made to the
Department of Treasury and Finance on a quarterly basis by the
Department of Health on behalf of the Authority.
Note 12 Other expenses
Communications
Computer services
Employment on-costs (a)
Insurance
Legal expenses
Motor vehicle expenses
Operating lease expenses
Printing and stationery
Rental of property
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment expense
Other
(a) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment
on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual
and long service leave liability is included at note 38 'Provisions'.
Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave
are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.
Note 13 Grants and contributions
(a) Commonwealth grants and contributions
Grant for Train the Trainer Project

(b) Other grants and contributions
Alcohol Education and Rehabilitation Foundation
Cancer Council Victoria
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2006
$

2005
$

Note 14 Other revenues
Recoveries
Use of hospital facilities
Other

177,753
680
1,266,067
1,444,500

1,016
447
1,269,293
1,270,756

36,009,305

32,449,843

Note 15 Service appropriations
Appropriation revenue received during the year:
Service appropriations
Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the net cost
of services delivered. The appropriation revenue comprises a
cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding
account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any
agreed increase in leave liability during the year.
Note 16 Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer
The following liabilities have been assumed by the Treasurer
during the financial year:
Superannuation

6,556

70,660

2,100
80,668
82,768

2,000
2,227
4,227

359,539
0
359,539
146,712
506,251

90,985
0
90,985
145,032
236,017

The assumption of the superannuation liability by the Treasurer is
a notional income to match the notional superannuation expense
reported in respect of current employees who are members of the
Pension Scheme and current employees who have a transfer
benefit entitlement under the Gold State Superannuation Scheme.
(The notional superannuation expense is disclosed at note 7
‘Employee benefits expense’).
Note 17 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand
Cash at bank – general
Note 18 Receivables
Current
Other receivables
Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables
GST receivable
See also note 2(o) ‘Receivables’ and note 40 ‘Financial
instruments’.
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2006
$

2005
$

Note 19 Amounts receivable for services
Current
Non-current

0
1,506,769
1,506,769

350,000
936,634
1,286,634

Balance at start of the year
Less holding account drawdown
Balance at end of the year

1,286,634
220,135
1,506,769

0
1,286,634
1,286,634

24,803
2,908
27,711

15,082
8,231
23,313

64,292

71,407

4,989,000
4,989,000

3,810,000
3,810,000

7,235,257
(21,863)
7,213,394

3,807,990
(322,828)
3,485,162

This asset represents the non-cash component of service
appropriations which is held in a holding account at the
Department of Treasury and Finance. It is restricted in that it can
only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.
Note 20 Inventories
Current
Pharmaceutical stores – at cost
Engineering stores – at cost
Note 21 Other current assets
Prepayments
Note 22 Property, plant and equipment
Land
At fair value
Buildings
Clinical:
At fair value
Accumulated depreciation

Total land and buildings
Computer equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated impairment losses
Furniture and fittings
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated impairment losses

12,202,394

7,295,162

535,777
(375,441)
0
160,336

656,265
(453,599)
0
202,666

234,258
(141,646)
0
92,612

241,169
(136,409)
0
104,760
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2006
$
Medical Equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated impairment losses
Other plant and equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated impairment losses
Total of property, plant and equipment

2005
$

26,361
(13,601)
0
12,760

39,564
(24,830)
0
14,734

401,917
(216,764)
0
185,153

405,365
(215,312)
0
190,053

12,653,255

7,807,375

88,787
88,787

106,277
106,277

The revaluations of land and buildings were performed in June
2005 in accordance with an independent valuation by the
Department of Land Information (Valuation Services) and the
revalued amounts were taken up by the Authority on 30 June 2006.
See note 2(e) ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’.
Payments for non-current assets
Payments were made for purchases of non-current assets during
the reporting period as follows:
Paid as cash by the Authority
Gross payments for purchases of non-current assets
Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
at the beginning and end of the current financial year are set out below:
2006
$
Land
Carrying amount at end of year
Revaluation increments / (decrements)
Carrying amount at end of year

3,810,000
1,179,000
4,989,000

Buildings
Carrying amount at start of year
Disposals
Revaluation increments / (decrements)
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

3,485,162
(14,224)
3,846,898
(104,442)
7,213,394

Computer equipment
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

202,666
48,963
(13,272)
(78,021)
160,336

Furniture and fittings
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

104,760
1,885
(3,319)
(10,714)
92,612
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2006
$
Medical Equipment
Carrying amount at start of year
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

14,734
(1,974)
12,760

Other plant and equipment
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

190,053
37,939
(12,493)
(30,346)
185,153

Total property, plant and equipment
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Disposals
Revaluation increments / (decrements)
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

7,807,375
88,787
(43,308)
5,025,898
(225,497)
12,653,255

(a) Recognised in Income Statement. Where an asset measured at cost is
written down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the
Income Statement. Where an asset at fair value is written down to recoverable
amount, the loss is accounted for as a revaluation decrement.
Note 23 Impairment of Assets
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment,
and intangible assets at 30 June 2006.
The Authority held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful
life during the reporting period and at reporting date there were no
intangible assets not yet available for use.
All surplus assets at 30 June 2006 have either been classified as assets
held for sale or written off.
2006
$

2005
$

Note 24 Intangible Assets
Computer software
At cost
Accumulated amortisation
Accumulated impairment losses

56,625
(52,862)
0
3,763

56,625
(52,330)
0
4,295

Reconciliation
Reconciliation of the carrying amount of intangible assets at the
beginning and end of the current financial year is set out below.
Computer software
Carrying amount at start of year
Amortisation expense (a)
Carrying amount at end of year

4,295
(532)
3,763

(a) Recognised in Income Statement.
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2006
$

2005
$

Note 25 Payables
Current
Trade creditors
Other creditors
Accrued expenses

11,491
451,964
87,157
550,612

4,380
0
91,850
96,230

893,585
103,205
840,113
97,457
1,934,360

863,174
99,793
822,197
78,116
1,863,280

710,104

635,383

2,644,464

2,498,663

142,773

0

4,401,939

2,633,137

102,000

138,000

0
4,503,939

1,630,802
4,401,939

See also note 2(o) ‘Receivables’ and note 40 ‘Financial instruments’.
Note 26 Provisions
Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave
Time off in lieu leave
Long service leave
Deferred salary scheme
Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave
Total Provisions
Note 27 Other liabilities
Current
Accrued salaries
Note 28 Contributed equity
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Authority.
The Government holds the equity interest in the Authority on behalf of
the community. The asset revaluation reserve represents that portion
of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.
Balance at start of the year
Contributions by owners
Capital contributions (a)
Distribution to owners
Net assets transferred to Government
Balance at end of the year
(a) Capital Contributions (appropriations) and non-discretionary
(non-reciprocal) transfers of net assets from other State government
agencies have been designated as contributions by owners in
Treasurer's Instruction TI 955 'Contribution by Owners Made to Wholly
Owned Public Sector Entities' and are credited directly to equity.
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2006
$

2005
$

Note 29 Reserves
Asset revaluation reserve (b):
Balance at start of year
Net revaluation increments / (decrements):
Land
Buildings
Balance at end of the year

3,425,470

3,425,470

1,179,000
3,846,898
8,451,368

0
0
3,425,470

(989,034)
(459,314)
0
1
(1,448,347)

(1,245,501)
233,798
22,670
(1)
(989,034)

(a) The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and
decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets.
(b) Any increment is credited directly to the asset revaluation
reserve, except to the extent that any increment reverses a
revaluation decrement previously recognised as an expense.
(c) Any decrement is recognised as an expense in the Income
Statement, except to the extent that any decrement reverses a
revaluation increment previously credited to the asset revaluation
reserve.
Note 30 Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at start of year
Result for the period
Income and expense recognised directly to equity
Rounding
Balance at end of the year
Note 31 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement
a)

Reconciliation of cash

Cash assets at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash
Flow Statement is reconciled to the related items in the Balance
Sheet as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents (see note 17)

82,768

4,227
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2006
$

2005
$

b) Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows
used in operating activities
Net cash used in operating activities (Cash Flow Statement)

(35,325,081)

(31,674,968)

1,680
268,554
4,398
(7,115)

69,549
24,924
1,360
(9,048)

Decrease/(increase) in liabilities:
Payables
Accrued salaries
Current provisions
Non-current provisions

(454,382)
(142,773)
(71,080)
(74,721)

36,563
507,576
1,497,362
(5,234)

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 9)
Net gain/(loss) from disposal of non-current assets (note 10)
Capital user charge paid by Department of Health (note 11)
Superannuation liabilities assumed by the Treasurer (note 16)
Adjustment for other non-cash items

(226,029)
(40,069)
(402,000)
(6,556)
(366)

(247,167)
(25,859)
(313,000)
(70,660)
(2,078,103)

Increase/(decrease) in assets:
GST receivable
Other current receivables
Inventories
Prepayments

Net GST (receipts)/payments
Net cost of services (Income Statement)

365
(36,475,175)

(32,286,705)

36,009,305

32,449,843

102,000

138,000

c) Notional cash flows
Service appropriations as per Income Statement
Capital appropriations credited directly to Contributed Equity
(Refer note 28)
Holding account drawdowns credited to Amounts Receivable
for Services (Refer Note 19)
Less notional cash flows:
Capital user charge
Other non cash adjustments to service appropriations
Cash Flows from State Government as per Cash Flow
Statement

(220,135)
35,891,170

(1,286,634)
31,301,209

(402,000)
0
(402,000)

(313,000)
634,806
371,806

35,489,170

31,673,015

At the reporting date, the Authority had fully drawn on all
financing facilities, details of which are disclosed in the financial
statements.
Note 32 Remuneration of members of the Accountable Authority and senior officers
Remuneration of members of the accountable authority
The number of members of the Accountable Authority, whose
total of fees, salaries, superannuation and other benefits for the
reporting period falls within the following bands are:
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2006
$
$0
$10,001 -

2005
$

$10,000
$20,000

The total remuneration of the members of the Accountable
Authority is:

2
1
3

19,055

1
0
1

316

Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers other than senior officers reported as
members of the Accountable Authority, whose total of fees, salaries,
superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the
financial year, fall within the following bands are:
$10,001
$30,001
$60,001
$70,001
$80,001
$90,001
$100,001
$110,001
$140,001
$200,001
Total

-

$20,000
$40,000
$70,000
$80,000
$90,000
$100,000
$110,000
$120,000
$150,000
$285,000

The total remuneration of senior officers is:

1
1
0
0
3
2
3
0
0
1
11

0
0
1
1
1
1
3
1
1
1
10

1,056,217

1,233,510

0

0

35,328

30,000

53,238
35,445
88,683

65,557
55,485
121,042

88,683
88,683

121,042
121,042

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred
by the Authority in respect of senior officers other than senior officers
reported as members of the Accountable Authority.
Numbers of senior officers presently employed who are members
of the Pension Scheme:
Note 33 Remuneration of Auditor
Remuneration to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows:
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators
Note 34 Commitments
Operating lease commitments:
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the
reporting date but not recognised in the financial statements are
payable as follows:
Within 1 year
Later than 1 year, and not later than 5 years
Representing:
Non-cancellable operating leases
These commitments are all inclusive of GST.
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Note 35 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
At the reporting date, the Authority is not aware of any contingent liabilities and contingent assets.
Note 36 Events occurring after reporting date
There were no events occurring after reporting date which have significant financial effects on these financial
statements.
Note 37 Related bodies
A related body is a body which receives more than half its funding and resources from the Authority and is
subject to operational control by the Authority.
The Authority had no related bodies during the reporting period.
Note 38 Affiliated bodies
An affiliated body is a body which receives more than half its funding and resources from the Authority and is
not subject to operational control by the Authority.
The Authority had no affiliated bodies during the reporting period.
Note 39 Explanatory Statement
A) Significant variations between actual results for 2005 and 2006
Significant variations between actual results with the corresponding items of the preceding reporting period are
detailed below. Significant variations are those greater than 10% or that are 4% or more of the current year’s
Total Cost of Services.
Note

Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Patient support costs
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Capital user charge
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Other expenses
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Other grants and contributions
Other revenues
Service appropriations
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)

2006
Actual
$

2005
Actual
$

Variance

13,386,423
19,141,978
226,029
402,000
40,069
4,801,148

12,541,163
16,184,159
247,167
313,000
25,859
4,346,113

845,260
2,957,819
(21,138)
89,000
14,210
455,035

77,972
1,444,500
36,009,305
6,556

100,000
1,270,756
32,449,843
70,660

(100,000)
77,972
173,744
3,559,462
(64,104)

$

a)

Patient support costs
The increased cost was associated with the new program the Commonwealth has developed, the “Tough
on Drugs” Indigenous Community Initiative, plus several grants to the NGO sector for specific drug and
alcohol program initiatives.

b)

Capital User Charge
The Capital User Charge from the Department of Health was reduced from the 2005 level.

c)

Other expenses
The FBT payment of $2.1 million had a flow on effect resulting in increased costs for other expenses.

99

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2006

d)

Commonwealth grants and contributions
The decrease in grant was a result of a one-off grant received in 2005 as a revenue for the “Train the
Trainer” project.

e)

Other revenues
The increase was due to recoups charged by the Department of Health as an Own Sourced Revenue.

f)

Service appropriations
This is the total contract adjustments received from the Department of Health during the year.

g)

Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer
Superannuation increased in 2005 due to an unexpected payout for the old pension scheme.

B)

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2006

Significant variations between the estimates and actual results for income and expenses are detailed below.
Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% of budget.

Operating expenses
Employee benefits expenses
Other goods and services
Total expenses
Less: Revenues
Net cost of services

Note

2006
Actual
$

2006
Estimates
$

(a)
(b)

13,386,423
24,611,224
37,997,647
(1,522,472)
36,475,175

13,447,881
23,702,884
37,150,765
(1,563,460)
35,587,305

(c)

Variance
$

(61,458)
908,340
846,882
40,988
887,870

a) Employee benefits expenses
Variance not significant.
b) Other goods and services
Variance not significant.
c) Revenues from ordinary activities
Variance not significant.
Note 40 Financial instruments
a)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments held by the Authority are cash and cash equivalents, loans, receivables and payables.
The Authority has limited exposure to financial risks. The Authority's overall risk management program focuses
on managing the risks identified below.
Credit risk
The Authority trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Authority has policies in place to
ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Authority's exposure to
bad debts is minimal. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk.
Liquidity risk
The Authority has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by
monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.
Cash flow interest rate risk
The Authority is not exposed to interest rate risk because cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are
non-interest bearing and have no borrowings.
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Net financial assets / (liabilities)

Financial Liabilities
Payables

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

2006

0.0%

%

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

0

0

0

0

0
0

0

$000

0

0
0

0

0

$000

Fixed interest rate maturities
Within
1 to 2
1 year
years

0

$000

Variable
interest
rate

0

0
0

0

$000

2 to 3
years

Interest rate risk exposure
The following table details the Authority's exposure to interest rate risk as at the reporting date:

0

0
0

0
0

$000

3 to 4
years

0

0
0

0
0

$000

4 to 5
years

0

0
0

0

$000

More
than 5
years

38

551
551

83
506
589

$000

Non
interest
bearing

38

551
551

83
506
589

$000

Total

Financial instrument information for the year ended 2005 has been prepared under the previous AGAAP Australian Accounting Standard AAS 33 'Presentation and
Disclosure of Financial Instruments'. Financial instrument information from 1 July 2005 has been prepared under AASB 132 'Financial Instruments: Presentation' and
AASB 139 'Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement'. See also note 2(w) 'Comparative figures'.

b)

Note 40 Financial instruments (continued)
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Note 40 Financial instruments (continued)

2005
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

Variable
interest
rate

%

$000

0.0%

Fixed interest rate maturities
1 year
1 to 5
or less
years
$000

$000

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Over 5
years

Noninterest
bearing

Total

$000

$000

$000

0

4
236
350
590

4
236
350
590

0

0

96
96

96
96

0

0

494

494

Financial Liabilities
Payables

Net financial assets / (liabilities)

Note 41 Schedule of Income and Expenses by Services
Prevention & Promotion
2006
2005
$
$
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefit expense
Patient support costs
Depreciation and amortisation
expense
Capital user charge
Loss on disposal of noncurrent assets
Other expenses
Total cost of services
INCOME
Commonwealth grants and
contributions
Other grants and contributions
Other revenues
Total income other than
income from State
Government
NET COST OF SERVICES
INCOME FROM STATE
GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations
Liabilities assumed by the
Treasurer
Total income from State
Government
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR
THE PERIOD

Diagnosis & Treatment
2006
2005
$
$

Total
2006
$

2005
$

669,321
957,099
11,301

815,176
1,051,970
46,962

12,717,102
18,184,879
214,728

11,725,987
15,132,189
200,205

13,386,423
19,141,978
226,029

12,541,163
16,184,159
247,167

20,100
2,003

59,470
4,913

381,900
38,066

253,530
20,946

402,000
40,069

313,000
25,859

240,057
1,899,881

825,761
2,804,252

4,561,091
36,097,766

3,520,352
30,853,209

4,801,148
37,997,647

4,346,113
33,657,461

0
0
0
0

100,000
0
241,444
341,444

0
77,972
1,444,500
1,522,472

0
0
1,029,312
1,029,312

0
77,972
1,444,500
1,522,472

100,000
0
1,270,756
1,370,756

1,899,881

2,462,808

34,575,294

29,823,897

36,475,175

32,286,705

6,841,768
1,246

6,165,470
13,425

29,167,537
5,310

26,284,373
57,235

36,009,305
6,556

32,449,843
70,660

6,843,014

6,178,895

29,172,847

26,341,608

36,015,861

32,520,503

4,943,133

3,716,087

(5,402,447)

(3,482,289)

(459,314)

233,798

102

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2006

Note 42 Reconciliations explaining the transition to Australian equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards (AIFRS)
Reconciliation of equity at the date of transition to AIFRS: 1 July 2004
Previous
AGAAP
1 July 2004

Adjustments,
Employee
benefits

Asset
Impairment

Reclassification,
computer
software

Reclassification,
Other

Adjustments,
Land and
Buildings

Total
Adjustments

AIFRS
1 July 2004

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents
Receivables
Amounts
receivable for
services
Inventories
Other current
assets
Total Current
Assets
Non-Current
Assets
Amounts
receivable for
services
Property, plant
and equipment
Total NonCurrent Assets
Total Assets

111,202
141,545
350,000

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

111,202
141,545
350,000

21,953
80,455

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

21,953
80,455

705,155

0

0

0

0

0

0

705,155

334,806
7,979,671

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

334,806
7,979,671

8,314,477

0

0

0

0

0

0

8,314,477

9,019,632

0

0

0

0

0

0

9,019,632

Previous
AGAAP
1 July 2004

Adjustments,
Employee
benefits

Asset
Impairment

Reclassification,
computer
software

Reclassification,
Other

Adjustments,
Land and
Buildings

Total
Adjustments

AIFRS
1 July 2004

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

LIABILITIES
Current
Liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Other current
liabilities
Total Current
Liabilities
Non-Current
Liabilities
Provisions
Total NonCurrent
Liabilities
Total Liabilities
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Contributed
equity
Reserves
Accumulated
surplus/
(deficiency)
TOTAL EQUITY

132,793
0
1,747,411
60,272

0
0
(22,670)
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
(22,670)
0

132,793
0
1,724,741
60,272

1,940,476

(22,670)

0

0

0

0

(22,670)

1,917,806

2,266,053

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,266,053

2,266,053
4,206,529

0
(22,670)

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
(22,670)

2,266,053
4,183,859

4,813,103

22,670

0

0

0

0

22,670

4,835,773

2,633,137
3,425,470
(1,245,504)

0
0
22,670

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
22,670

2,633,137
3,425,470
(1,222,834)

4,813,103

22,670

0

0

0

0

22,670

4,835,773

103

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN ALCOHOL AND DRUG AUTHORITY
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30th June 2006
Note 42 Reconciliations explaining the transition to Australian equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards (AIFRS)
(continued)
Reconciliation of equity at the date of the last reporting period under previous AGAAP: 30 June 2005
AGAAP
30 June 2005

Adjustments,
Employee
benefits

Asset
Impairment

Reclassification,
computer
software

Reclassifications
Other

Adjustments,
Land and
Buildings

$

$

$

$

$

$

Total
Adjustments

AIFRS
30 June 2005

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents
Restricted cash
and cash
equivalents
Restricted other
financial assets
Receivables
Amounts
receivable for
services
Inventories
Other current
assets
Non-current
assets classified
as held for sale
Total current
assets
Non-Current
Assets
Amounts
receivable for
services
Property, plant
and equipment
Intangible assets
Total NonCurrent Assets
Total Assets

LIABILITIES
Current
Liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Other current
liabilities
Total Current
Liabilities

4,227
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

4,227
0

0
236,017
350,000

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
236,017
350,000

23,313
71,407

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

23,313
71,407

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

684,964

0

0

0

0

0

0

684,964

936,634

0

0

0

0

0

0

936,634

7,811,670

0

0

(4,295)

0

0

(4,295)

7,807,375

8,748,304

0
0

0
0

4,295
0

0
0

0
0

4,295
0

4,295
8,748,304

9,433,268

0

0

0

0

0

0

9,433,268

AGAAP
30 June 2005

Adjustments,
Employee
benefits

Asset
Impairment

Reclassification,
computer
software

Reclassifications
Other

Adjustments,
Land and
Buildings

$

$

$

$

$

$

Total
Adjustments

AIFRS
30 June 2005

96,230
0
1,880,719
0

0
0
(17,439)
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
(17,439)
0

96,230
0
1,863,280
0

1,976,949

(17,439)

0

0

0

0

(17,439)

1,959,510

0
635,383

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
635,383

635,383

0

0

0

0

0

0

635,383

Total Liabilities

2,612,332

(17,439)

0

0

0

0

(17,439)

2,594,893

NET ASSETS

6,820,936

17,439

0

0

0

0

17,439

6,838,375

4,401,939

0

0

0

0

0

0

4,401,939

3,425,470

0

0

0

0

0

0

3,425,470

(1,006,473)

17,439

0

0

0

0

17,439

(989,034)

6,820,936

17,439

0

0

0

0

17,439

6,838,375

Non-Current
Liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total NonCurrent
Liabilities

EQUITY
Contributed
equity
Reserves
Accumulated
surplus/
(deficiency)
TOTAL EQUITY
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Note 42 Reconciliations explaining the transition to Australian equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards (AIFRS)
(continued)

Reconciliation of Income Statement for the year ended 30 June 2005

AGAAP
30 June 2005

Adjustments,
Employee
benefits

Impairment
losses

Adjustment,
Depreciation

Adjustment,
Other

$

$

$

$

$

Total
Adjustments

AIFRS
30 June 2005

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Patient support costs
Depreciation and amortisation
expense
Capital user charge
Loss on disposal of non-current
assets
Other expenses
Total cost of services
INCOME
Revenue
Commonwealth grants and
contributions
Proceeds from disposal of noncurrent assets
Other revenues
Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current
assets
Gain on disposal of other assets
Other gains
Total income other than income
from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES
INCOME FROM STATE
GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations
Assets assumed /
(transferred)
Liabilities assumed by the
Treasurer
Resources received free of charge
Total income from State
Government
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE
PERIOD

14,883,727
16,184,159
247,167

(2,342,564)
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

(2,342,564)
0
0

12,541,163
16,184,159
247,167

313,000
27,114

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
(1,255)

0
(1,255)

313,000
25,859

1,998,318
33,653,485

2,347,795
5,231

0
0

0
0

0
(1,255)

2,347,795
3,976

4,346,113
33,657,461

100,000
1,255

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
(1,255)

0
(1,255)

100,000
0

1,270,756

0

0

0

0

0

1,270,756

0
0
0
1,372,011

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
(1,255)

0
0
0
(1,255)

0
0
0
1,370,756

32,281,474

5,231

0

0

0

5,231

32,286,705

32,449,843
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

32,449,843
0

70,660
0
32,520,503

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

70,660
0
32,520,503

239,029

(5,231)

0

0

0

(5,231)

233,798
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Note 42 Reconciliations explaining the transition to Australian equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards (AIFRS)
(continued)
Reconciliation of Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 30 June 2005

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriations
Net cash provided by State Government

AGAAP
30 June 2005

Adjustments

AIFRS
30 June 2005

$

$

$

31,673,015
31,673,015

0
0

31,673,015
31,673,015

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Supplies and services
Employee benefits
GST payments on purchases

(18,211,379)
(14,756,122)
(1,915,526)

Receipts
Commonwealth grants and contributions
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts
Net cash (used in) / provided by operating activities

107,820
68,975
1,760,660
1,270,604
(31,674,968)

0
0
0
0
0

107,820
68,975
1,760,660
1,270,606
(31,674,968)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for purchase of non-current physical activities
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities

(106,277)
1,255
(105,022)

0
0
0

(106,277)
1,255
(105,022)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(106,975)

0

(106,975)

111,202

0

111,202

4,227

0

4,227

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE PERIOD

(2,308,031)
2,308,031
0

(20,519,410)
(12,448,093)
(1,915,526)

Notes to the reconciliations
(a) Employee benefits
AASB 119 requires that all employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting date is measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
Under AGAAP, all annual leave and long service leave entitlements (unconditional long service leave) were
measured at nominal amounts.
Employment on-costs are not included in employee benefits under AGAAP or AIFRS. However, under AGAAP
employee benefits and on-costs are disclosed together on the face of the Income Statement as Employee
costs. Under AIFRS employee benefits will be the equivalent item disclosed on the face. On-costs are
transferred to other expenses.
Adjustments to opening Balance Sheet (1 July 2004)
There has been a decrease in employee benefits provision of $22,670 and a corresponding increase in
accumulated surplus/(deficit).
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Adjustments to 30 June 2005 Balance Sheet
There has been a decrease in employee benefits provision of $17,439 and a corresponding increase in
accumulated surplus/(deficit).
Adjustments to the Income Statement for the period ended 30 June 2005
The present value measurement has resulted in a decrease in employee benefits expense of $5,231.
Adjustments to the Cash Flow Statement for the period ended 30 June 2005
Employment on-costs payments have been reclassified from employee benefits payments to other payments
$2,308,231.
(b) Intangible assets
AASB 138 requires that software not integral to the operation of a computer must be disclosed as intangible
assets. Intangible assets must be disclosed on the balance sheet. All software has previously been classified
as property, plant and equipment (computer equipment and software).
Adjustments to 30 June 2005 Balance Sheet
The Authority has transferred $4,295 in software from property, plant and equipment to intangible assets.
Adjustments to the Income Statement for the period ended 30 June 2005
There was no net impact on the surplus for the year.
(c) Net gain on disposal of non-current assets
Under AGAAP the disposal of non-current assets is disclosed on the gross basis. That is, the proceeds of
disposal are revenue and the carrying amounts of assets disposed of are expense. The disposal of noncurrent assets is disclosed on the net basis (gains or losses) under AIFRS.
Adjustments to the Income Statement for the period ended 30 June 2005
The carrying amount of assets disposed of was previously recognised as expense. This has been
derecognised $43,308.
The proceeds of disposal of non-current assets were previously recognised as income. This was derecognised
$3,239.
A gain/(loss) on the disposal of non-current assets of $40,069 has been recognised as expense.

107

